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Our Goal
DPM’s business objectives are to identify, acquire, finance, develop and operate low cost, long life primarily
gold mining properties; and to provide support to selected mining companies by providing required capital
through strategic investments. The Company intends to create shareholder value through its disciplined but
opportunistic business model. DPM is assembling a pipeline of mining projects at various stages of
development. The Company is actively evaluating acquisition opportunities of mining properties to fill and
expand its project pipeline as well as continuing to make strategic market purchases of mining securities
where synergistic opportunities exist in order to balance its pipeline for continued growth.

* All $ figures expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated.

2006 2007
CHELOPECH
• maintained pre-expansion production rate
• received UK’s Green Apple Environmental Gold Award
• implemented successful community program

KAPAN MINE
• acquired 80% interest in producing mine for its exploration

and redevelopment potential

BACK RIVER
• increased ownership of project to 100% 
• consolidated exploration database
• completed initial regional exploration program

SERBIAN EXPLORATION
• acquired exploration and mining concessions
• initiated exploration program

CORPORATE
• realized significant gains through focused, strategic 

investments
• maintained solid financial position
• continued evaluation of acquisition opportunities

CHELOPECH
• obtain approval and permits required for project 

redevelopment
• initiate ramp up of production

KAPAN MINE
• undertake exploration program to confirm 

scale of the deposit
• commence redevelopment of mine in order to operate mill 

at full capacity of approximately 1.2 million tpy by 2008

KRUMOVGRAD
• obtain approval and permits required to commence 

development of the project
• start mine construction

BACK RIVER
• expand resource base
• determine potential of the project

SERBIAN EXPLORATION
• continue extensive exploration program
• provide preliminary results by year end 2007

CORPORATE
• optimize mining assets
• continue strategic investments
• evaluate potential acquisitions
• maintain environmental and technical best practices
• enhance financial strength

ACHIEVEMENTS GOALS

Corporate Profile
Dundee Precious Metals Inc. is a Canadian based, international mining company engaged in the
acquisition, exploration, development and mining of precious metals. It currently owns the Chelopech Mine,
a producing gold/copper mine, and the Krumovgrad gold project, a mining development project, both
located in Bulgaria, and is engaged in mineral exploration activities in Serbia. In addition, DPM owns the
Back River gold exploration project in Nunavut, Canada and an 80% interest in the Kapan Mine in Armenia.
The Company also holds a significant and strategic portfolio of investments in the precious metals and
mineral related sector.
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DPM’s COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES

…and solid financials!

A strong project pipeline…

…the right people to succeed…

Chelopech
Bulgaria
Production/redevelopment

With offices in Canada, Bulgaria, Serbia and Armenia, 
DPM’s 2,000 employees provide the necessary expertise 
to develop a successful mining company. Highly 
regarded professionals in the fields of mining, 
exploration, EPCM, business development, 
environment and finance provide the 
knowledge required to explore, find, 
fund and build new mines.

Kapan
Armenia
Production/redevelopment

Krumovgrad
Bulgaria
Feasibility/development

Back River
Canada
Advanced exploration

Exploration Concessions
Serbia
Grassroots exploration

$100.1
Other

$19.7
Tahera

$32.1
IAMGOLD

$37.6
Goldbelt

(Financial Data provided as at December 31, 2006)

Working capital & investments at market value $4.26/share

Shares outstanding 54.0 million

Working capital & investments at market value $230 million

Gold Resources (M+I) 5.4 million ounces

Copper Resources (M+I) 374,000 tonnes

Gold Resources (Inferred) 1.3 million ounces

Copper Resources (Inferred) 78,000 tonnes

Gold Resources (Historical C1-C2) (Non NI-43-101 compliant) 1.0 million ounces

Copper Resources (Historical C1-C2) (Non NI-43-101 compliant) 98,000 tonnes

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO AT
MARKET $189.5 MILLION
As at December 31, 2006



DPM’S SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE

January 2004 – December 2006

C$6.32

C$11.59
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Our Messages to Stock Owners

From the Chairman

In spite of the Company’s significant
accomplishments, 2006 was a
challenging year! This was occasioned
by the ongoing delays in the granting of
approvals for our two projects by the
Minister of Environment and Waters of
Bulgaria. The projects meet or exceed
all environmental criteria for both

Bulgaria and the European Union. We remain optimistic that
the projects will receive the necessary approvals.

Last year I referred to the dedication and extreme efforts of all
our employees. Their efforts continue to be commendable
under such difficult conditions. The Company is fortunate to
have such enthusiastic and competent women and men
looking after your interest. 

During the year we enlarged our portfolio of mineral
properties in several geographic regions and maintained our
strong financial condition.

We began 2006 with a share price of $10.05 and while it
advanced to $14.55 in May it retreated to end the year at $11.59,
which we believe is due to the delays in obtaining approvals.

In 2007, we will continue with our efforts to get the Bulgarian
projects moving forward. In so doing, we will apply and
maintain the highest environmental and ethical standards in
our quest to be a leader in the gold mining business. 

William G. Wilson
Chairman

March 23, 2007

From the President and Chief Executive Officer

2006 was a year of achievements and challenges for Dundee
Precious Metals. The Company achieved significant financial
results from both its mining operations and its investment
activities. Operations at the Chelopech Mine surpassed all of
our predevelopment expectations. We purchased 80% of the
Kapan Mine in Armenia and our exploration in Serbia and at
Back River went very well. However, it is taking much longer
than anticipated to obtain the necessary permits in Bulgaria to
develop our projects there. 

In late 2005, we filed Environmental Impact Assessments
(“EIA”) for both our Chelopech and Krumovgrad projects
which were prepared to meet or exceed the Bulgarian
environmental standards and those of the European Union
(“EU”). At Chelopech, the EIA was approved twice by the
Supreme Expert Environmental Council and is currently
awaiting the signature of the Minister of Environment and
Waters. It has been a year since the legal time frame for a
decision has elapsed and the Minister has still not signed. We
have informed the Bulgarian government that we are open to
negotiation and we have commenced actively working with
the Office of the Prime Minister to achieve a solution to this
problem. In the meantime, the mine is profitable due to high
metal prices; however, markets for our concentrate are
uncertain beyond 2007.

At Krumovgrad, the story is similar. A decision on the EIA was
due in November 2005 and, to date, no progress has been
made. The Minister of Environment and Waters has recently
included our Krumovgrad project in a proposal for Natura
2000, an EU initiative whereby each country designates
qualified nature zones. We are encouraged by our recent
dialogue with the Office of the Prime Minister and are
optimistic that this issue will also be resolved.

These types of problems are pervasive throughout the global
mining industry. The industry is plagued with delays that cannot
be controlled by the investing companies. Mining investors have
had to learn to have patience beyond original expectations and
we ask our shareholders to be patient as well. 

In Serbia, we are actively drilling our exploration properties in
the Bor region. This region has been a huge producer of copper
and gold over the last hundred years and there has been little
exploration work in the region for a considerable time. We have
identified large targets and have commenced a methodical
drilling program. We are very excited about the potential in
Serbia and expect to release preliminary results by year end.

In Armenia, we are preparing to start a drilling campaign
which will outline an open pit that would be designed to
augment the current underground mine at Kapan and feed the



mill to its 1.2 million tonne per year capacity. In addition, there
is considerable exploration potential that will be tested with a
view to determining the scale of the deposit. 

At Back River, we will be drilling off promising targets
identified during last year’s program. The purpose of the
program will be to add resources to the project and we are
looking forward to the results.

In addition, during 2006 we purchased a 47% interest in
Goldbelt Resources, a junior gold mining company which is
developing a gold project in Burkina Faso. We are excited by
the project and the opportunities within Burkina Faso. We
view this as our initial foray into Africa and see many
opportunities in the region.

We are proud of the company that we have built. We are
proud of the quality of our group of dedicated professionals
and are confident that our problems will be overcome and the
Company will become a significant low cost gold producer.
We recognize that we are operating in a complicated part of
the world from a political perspective. We also know that
these regions are actively seeking foreign investment and, as
with Bulgaria joining the EU, they have adopted many new
laws that will help foster a better business climate. We
strongly believe that we will find a solution that produces a
positive result for the Company, its shareholders and the
jurisdictions in which we operate.

Jonathan Goodman
President and Chief Executive Officer

March 23, 2007

From top to bottom:

Jonathan Goodman
President and Chief Executive Officer

Lori E. Beak
Vice President and Corporate Secretary

Sean M. Hasson
Vice President, Exploration

Laurence D. Marsland
Executive Vice President and 

Chief Operating Officer
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From top to bottom:

Julian Barnes
Executive Vice President

C. Bruce Burton
Vice President and Chief 

Financial Officer

Adrian Goldstone
Vice President, Environment and

Sustainable Development

Paul Proulx
Vice President Human Resources

Gabriela M. Sanchez
Vice President Investor Relations 
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Chelopech Mine Sofia District, Bulgaria

FROM UNDERDEVELOPED TO PROFITABLE 
WORLD CLASS MINE
This underground gold/copper mine, located 75km east of Sofia,
produced a record 70,108 tonnes of concentrate in 2006,
containing 70,781 gold ounces and 25.4 million pounds of
copper. The mine maintained its pre-expansion production
rate of 900,000 tonnes of ore per year for the second year
in a row and was profitable throughout 2006.

Increased metal production is attributable to the higher tonnage
throughput at the process plant, better grades and improved metal
recoveries as compared to 2005. The change in the mining method, from
sub-level caving to long-hole open stoping, contributed to better grade
control and recoveries. Improvements in equipment and workforce
training are ongoing in preparation of the planned ramp-up of mine
production to a rate of 2.0 million tonnes per year.

At the end of 2006, Chelopech received the International Green Apple
Environment Gold Award from The Green Organization, an independent,
non-profit environmental group, based in the United Kingdom, which is
dedicated to promoting environmental endeavours.

Expansion Project

DPM intends to increase mine production to 2.0 million tonnes per year
and construct a metal production facility which will process the
concentrate and produce gold doré and LME grade copper cathodes. The
process will be enhanced to convert the arsenic present in the
concentrate into an environmentally stable form suitable for safe disposal. 

An EIA was completed by the Balkan Science and Education Centre of
Ecology and Environment and submitted to the Bulgarian Minister of
Environment and Waters (“MoEW”) in November of 2005. The Supreme
Expert Environmental Council voted in favour of the resolution to approve
the EIA in March of 2006. The MoEW since then has failed to issue the
final approval and, as a result, the Chelopech Mine will likely be forced
to suspend operations for at least part of 2008.

The Company is endeavouring to enforce its rights through the Bulgarian
Courts. On October 24, 2006, the Bulgarian Court ruled in favour of the
Company’s claim that the MoEW's failure to issue a final resolution on the
Chelopech EIA was unlawful and should be interpreted as a silent refusal
and has ordered the Minister to issue a final resolution on the project. The
decision was appealed by the MoEW and, at a hearing on February 22,
2007, the Court’s original decision was upheld and the Company
continues to await the execution of the resolution by the MoEW. 

REDEVELOPMENT FEASIBILITY STUDY
(at US$430/ounce Au and US$1.05/lb Cu)

SCOPE

Increase production to 2.0 million tpy
Construct direct metal production facility
Optimum environmental solution

COST AND RETURN

Capital cost: US$175 million
IRR after tax: 18.9%
Payback period: 4.1 years

ANNUAL PRODUCTION

130,000 ounces Au plus 21,700 tonnes Cu
(251,000 ounces Au Equivalent)
Cash cost: US$224 per ounce Au Equivalent
Mine life: 10 years

MINEABLE RESERVES
21.7 million tonnes ore
2.5 million ounces Au
300,000 tonnes Cu

BULGARIA

Belgrade

Sofia
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PRODUCTION, COSTS AND SALES
(in thousands of US$ except as otherwise stated)

Twelve Months
As at December 31, 2006 2005
Ore mined (mt) 920,150 911,179
Ore processed (mt) 952,753 851,964
Head grade (ore milled)

Copper (%) 1.41 1.59
Gold (g/mt) 3.99 4.21

Concentrate produced (mt) 70,108 67,755
Metals contained in concentrate produced

Copper (lbs) 25,361,802 24,621,274
Copper (% recovered) 85.36 82.5
Gold (ounces) 70,781 56,879
Gold (% recovered) 58.0 49.3

Cash cost per tonne of ore processed $ 31.22 $ 34.91
Cash cost per pound of copper in concentrate (1) $ 0.72 $ 0.67
Cash cost per ounce of gold in concentrate (1) $ 143 $ 183
Value of Copper and Gold in Concentrate Sold (US$000) (2) $ 100,420 $ 68,918
Sales

Sales (US$000) (3) $ 93,476 $ 52,285
Sales (Cdn$000) $ 106,233 $ 63,234
Concentrate (dmt) 64,939 71,799
Copper in concentrate (lbs) 22,673,114 25,787,681
Gold in concentrate (ounces) 58,569 60,355

(1) Gold and copper are accounted for as co-products. Copper units are converted into gold units using the
ratio of the average gold value to the average copper value for the period. Total cash costs per ounce are
net of by-product silver sales revenue.

(2) Deductions from gross metal values are made for treatment charges, penalties, transportation and other
selling costs to arrive at the value received for concentrate sold.

(3) Included in sales is a reduction of US$6.0 million and an increase of US$18.5 million (2005 - US$5.5 million
and US$8.5 million) for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2006, respectively, related to the
change in metal prices on the settlement date from the provisional sales amounts reported at the end of
the prior period. The large increase in 2006 related to the significant increases in metal prices realized. 

TONNES OF ORE MINED PER YEAR

2006 fixed costs
60%

Significant economies
of scale are expected
at post expansion
production rate

The Chelopech deposit remains open at depth and
newly discovered areas of mineralization will be 
further explored.



Deposit Tonnes Cu% Au g/t Zn% Ag g/t Pb%
(million)

Shahumyan 12.4 0.56 2.5 2.5 50 0.2
1989 Report

Central 2.9 0.99 - - - -
1979 Report

Historical Resources*
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Kapan Mine Armenia

OPPORTUNITY FOR MINE REDEVELOPMENT AND INCREASED RESOURCES
In August 2006, DPM acquired an 80% interest in this producing
underground mine, located approximately 320km south of
Yerevan, the capital of Armenia. The transaction amounted to
US$22 million, plus transaction costs of US$1.2 million and a
US$10 million investment commitment for mine expansion.

This mine has an estimated annual production of 300,000
tonnes of ore from its current underground operations, where
precious metals contribute to approximately 50% of its
revenues, based on long term prices. Production in the fourth
quarter of 2006 totaled 1,288 ounces of gold, 0.3 million pounds
of copper and 1.1 million pounds of zinc. The concentrate
produced at Kapan is readily saleable due to the lack of
impurities or deleterious elements.

DPM intends to develop the mine in two phases. In Phase
One, the Company intends to expand the underground
operations and introduce open pit mining to maximize the
present mine milling capacity of over 1 million tonnes/year.
Phase Two of the development program includes an extensive
drilling program as part of its proposed activities in order to
confirm the scale of the deposit and to enable a National
Instrument 43-101 (“NI 43-101”) compliant resource to be
prepared and used in a definitive feasibility study. The
Company has budgeted up to $21.3 million for the 2007
exploration program in Armenia.

As part of standard Soviet era practice, extensive diamond
drilling and underground development was undertaken at
both the Shahumyan and Central deposits. For example,
databases compiled by the Kapan Mine based on Soviet era
records, indicate that over 290,000m of surface and
underground diamond drilling and 32,000m of underground
channel sampling was completed to assess the Shahumyan
deposit. No drill core remains from the Soviet era exploration
programs. Based on information compiled by the Kapan Mine,

Soviet era reports prepared for, and
reportedly approved by, the
Armenian government listed the
following combined C1 and C2
historical resources (non NI
43-101 compliant) for the Shahumyan and
Central deposits.

C1-C2 RESOURCES 1989 AND PRIOR
(NON NI 43-101 COMPLIANT)

15.3 million tonnes
98,000 tonnes Cu
1 million ounces Au
310,000 tonnes Zn
20 million ounces Ag

*All resource estimates quoted herein are based on prior data and reports obtained and
prepared by previous operators and information provided by the State. The Company has
not completed the work necessary to verify the classification of the mineral resource
estimates. The Company is not treating the mineral resource estimates as NI 43-101
defined resources verified by a qualified person. The historical estimates should not be
relied upon. These properties will require considerable further evaluation which DPM’s
management and consultants intend to carry out in due course.

ARMENIA

Yerevan



Dundee Precious Metals Inc.  7

Krumovgrad Kurdjali District, Bulgaria

MINEABLE RESERVES
4.9 million tonnes ore
794,000 ounces AuSHALLOW HIGH GRADE GOLD DEPOSIT

The Krumovgrad Gold Project is located in southeast
Bulgaria. A definitive feasibility study for the
construction and operation of this open pit mine was
prepared by Ausenco Limited of Perth, Australia, and
was approved by DPM’s Board of Directors in 2005. 

An EIA, filed with the Bulgarian MoEW in April 2005, is being
held in abeyance by the MoEW without explanation. To
protect the Company’s interests, a legal appeal was filed
December 2005 with the Court against the MoEW for failure to
rule on DPM’s EIA submission within the timeframe allowed
by Bulgarian legislation. On February 13, 2007, the Court
revoked the silent refusal of the MoEW and has required the
MoEW to issue a pronouncement on the Krumovgrad EIA. The
MoEW has filed an appeal of this latest decision, however, a
hearing date has not yet been set. 

With strong support at the central bureaucratic level and a
public acknowledgement by the MoEW that the project was
designed to exceed key EU environmental guidelines, the
Company has conducted a comprehensive lobbying effort in
an attempt to move the project forward.

In addition, to address the principal concerns expressed by
local politicians, DPM has offered to provide financial
guarantees to cover the cost of closure and rehabilitation, and
to establish a sustainable development fund specifically
designed to replace job loss upon mine closure.

All engineering and procurement activities at the project were
suspended in May 2006. This is in addition to the suspension
of the resettlement program which occurred at the end of
February 2006. Consequently, the Krumovgrad Gold Project
will be delayed until such time as the MoEW meets its legal
obligations and approves the EIA which has been deemed to
be fully compliant by independent international and licensed
Bulgarian environmental experts.

FEASIBILITY STUDY
(at US$430/ounce Au)

SCOPE

Construction and operation of an open pit mine, including
CIL processing plant to produce gold/silver dore bullion

COST AND RETURN

Capital cost: US$75 million
IRR after tax: 39%
Payback period: 1.9 years

ANNUAL PRODUCTION

150,000 ounces Au Equivalent (first 4 years)
Cash cost: US$116/ounce Au Equivalent
Mine life: 6 years

DPM intends to continue exploration work in concession
areas adjacent to the Krumovgrad deposit.

BULGARIA
Sofia



8 Dundee Precious Metals Inc.

Back River Nunavut, Canada

ADVANCED EXPLORATION WITH HIGH GRADE
GOLD MINERALIZATION

In July 2006, DPM increased its interest in this
project to 100%. The Back River Project

comprises 390 km2 of mineral rights.

During 2006, a total of 79 drill holes
totaling approximately 24,000m of diamond

drilling were completed on the Back River
Project mineral claims. The 2006 diamond drill

program focused on both discovery level
targets located on the George Lake, Boot Lake

and Boulder Pond properties and also consisted of
resource expansion drill programs at the Goose Lake and
George Lake deposits. The objective of the drill program was to
test the strike and depth projections of the Goose Lake and
George Lake resource footprints.

An exploration budget of up to $18.4 million is proposed for the
Back River Project in 2007. A diamond drill program with the
aim of expanding the resource base at George Lake is
planned to test the strike and depth extensions within the
Lone Cow Pond mineralized zone.

In addition, a systematic geochemical survey is planned that
will consist of collecting soil and rock chip samples over the
entire Goose Lake, George Lake, Boot Lake and Boulder Pond
claim groups. The geochemical survey results will be
incorporated with the recently completed geophysical survey
data, the district structural interpretation and geological
mapping to generate additional diamond drill targets.

An update of the Back River resource estimate is awaiting
completion by RSG Global, and will include all drilling up to the
end of the 2006 field season.

GOLD RESOURCES
Indicated: 1.4 million ounces Au
Inferred: 600,000 ounces Au

CANADA

A substantial amount of exploration field work was conducted at the Back River
properties in 2006. 

The seasonal camp re-opened in March with the creation of an ice runway.
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Serbian Exploration

In April 2006, DPM and the Government of Serbia signed
exploration and mining concession contracts for the Coka
Kuruga, Coka Kupjatra and Tilva Njagra exploration and
exploitation concessions (collectively known as the Crni Vrh
concessions). These concessions are contiguous and are
located approximately 10 km west and northwest of the town
of Bor, representing an area of 153 km2. The exploration
concessions are granted for a three year period, renewable
for an additional two years, and include mining rights which
have been granted for 25 years.

In addition to the Crni Vrh concessions, DPM has been
granted 11 exploration license agreements in different

regions of the country, representing an
area of 1,221 km2. The Company is
currently the largest concession holder
in Serbia and can maximize the value
of its Serbian investments by
capitalizing on synergies with its projects in
Bulgaria through the use of modern and systematic
exploration methodology.

DPM has budgeted up to $17.8 million for the 2007
exploration program in Serbia. The exploration program will
focus on further understanding the geological context of the
Timok Magmatic Complex with the aim to define a gold/copper
resource within the next two years. Exploration activities will
focus on evaluating the Crni Vrh concessions and the
Company’s exploration licenses in the Timok region of northeast
Serbia. Work completed to date has included flying a high-
resolution aeromagnetic and transient electromagnetics (TEM)
heliborne geophysical survey over the Timok concessions.
Subsequent ground geophysical methods, Titan-24 and
conventional direct current induced polarization (DCIP), have
been employed to provide greater subsurface definition over
selected areas. Further data processing and interpretation of
this data is required.

In addition, detailed geological mapping, trenching and
extensive multi-element surface geochemical surveys have
been undertaken. A preliminary structural interpretation and
synthesis of the Timok region has been carried out and the
environmental baseline study has commenced. 

GRASS ROOTS EXPLORATION IN HISTORICAL MINING DISTRICT

SERBIA

The geology of Serbia represents a continuation of the Cretaceous and Tertiary
Arc systems that are found in other countries of eastern Europe and hosts
significant copper and gold deposits and mining operations in the Bor region. 

Sofia

Analyst tour to the Bor region of Serbia in June 2006.

Belgrade

Belgrade

Sofia

DPM Chelopech Reserves
2.5 Moz Au, 300,000t Cu

DPM Krumovgrad Reserves
0.794 Moz Au

Cretaceous Arc

Rhodope Arc

Sumadija – Chalkidiki Arc

Banat - Srednagorie Arc

«

«
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During 2006, DPM appointed a Vice President, Environment
and Sustainable Development, in order to bring focus at the
senior management level to these critical elements of its
business activities. The Board also approved a formal
environment and sustainable development policy which
provides additional guidance to that contained in the Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics of the Company. The policy is
being introduced to all DPM employees.

In 2006, the Chelopech Mine was selected as a winner of the
International Green Apple Environmental Gold Award
presented by The Green Organization in recognition of its
mining rehabilitation program and subsequently became one of
their Green Heroes 2007. This is the first time a mining
organization in Europe has been awarded the gold prize. The
Green Organization is an independent, non-profit
environmental group, based in the United Kingdom, dedicated
to promoting environmental endeavours. 

In addition to the above environmental award, the Chelopech
Mine continues to be an important direct and indirect
contributor to the regional and local economy. A number of
programs designed to provide focused support to the adjacent
Chelopech Village were continued throughout the year.
Examples of such programs are: the establishment and

ongoing support of the Chelopech high school, funded by the
Chelopech Mine, and the provision of equipment to Sofia’s
Pirogov Emergency Institute.

The Krumovgrad Gold Project EIA meets and in many aspects
exceeds European standards. The project information office
has remained open and the community and social program
manager has remained at site. DPM expects to recommence
the project and will continue community support.

At the Kapan Mine, DPM’s environmental staff started a process
of risk assessment and identification of areas that required
prompt intervention. As a result, a comprehensive program to

Corporate Environmental, 

Sustainability and Social Responsibility

Before… and after
environmental remediation work 

at DPM’s Chelopech Mine.

The Company continues supporting the Chelopech high school. At Back River, environmental work included fish studies, stream inflow
monitoring, lake bathymetry and waste rock studies.

Planting day at Chelopech.
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apply DPM’s environmental, health
and safety standards is being
undertaken and includes changes
to tailings management practices,
improvement of systems and
procedures and preparation of a
baseline environmental and socio-
economic study of the region.

During 2005 and 2006 at Back
River’s Goose and George Lake deposits, DPM conducted
baseline hydrological sampling, collection and interpretation of
weather station data and a water sampling program. Additional
work included fish habitat sampling, an ongoing drill sump
clean-up exercise at Goose Lake and continuous collection of
weather data at Goose Lake. DPM completed the construction
of a lined and bermed fuel farm at the George Lake property,
which consists of two 70,000 litre capacity double hulled
Envirotanks. Further studies and a complete review of all
baseline data will be required to develop impact assessments,
mitigation procedures and abandonment and reclamation
plans which are required to complete the environmental impact
statements necessary for production permitting in compliance
with Canadian environmental regulations.

In Serbia, during 2006, the environmental and community
program focused on preparation of a baseline study,
engagement with the communities in which DPM operates as

well as locating, and where necessary, training Serbian
service providers. During 2007, DPM will continue the existing
baseline program to ensure that relevant information is
gathered and programs are implemented that will facilitate
and expedite permitting requirements, and focus on priority
exploration targets.

DPM is committed to achieving and maintaining recognized best
practice mining, processing, environmental and health and
safety standards at all its operations and facilities. In addition,
DPM is committed to protecting the health and safety of all its
employees and supports the longer term economic needs and
aspirations of the local communities in which it is involved. The
Company makes the protection of the environment, from
exploration and mining through to rehabilitation and closure, an
essential feature of its operations.

DPM completed the construction of a lined and bermed fuel farm at the George Lake camp at Back River.

Donation of medical equipment
to Sofia’s Pirogov Emergency
Institute.

DPM’s staff at the Chelopech Mine contribute to programs aimed at raising
environmental awareness in the community.
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Highlights of our Solid Financials

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET OF OUR SOLID FINANCIALS
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)
As at December 31, 2006 2005

Assets

Current assets 86,300 104,735
Investments 109,355 91,467
Other long-term assets 2,221 1,204
Property, plant and equipment 251,962 134,241
Future income tax asset 5,016 6,262
Total assets 454,854 337,909
Liabilities

Current liabilities 45,621 13,768
Long-term liabilities 41,920 31,960
Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 193,307 190,666
Contributed surplus 7,019 4,260
Retained earnings 166,987 97,255
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 454,854 337,909

CONDENSED INCOME STATEMENT
Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended

Cdn$ millions, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,

except per share amounts 2006 2005 2006 2005

Revenue from mining operations

Gold/copper concentrate $ 32.9 $ 33.1 $ 110.9 $ 63.2
Cost of sales 20.4 18.2 50.7 45.6

Gross profit from mining operations $ 12.5 $ 14.9 $ 60.2 $ 17.6
Net investment income (loss) 22.8 (3.2) 64.9 23.9
Net earnings before undernoted $ 35.3 $ 11.7 $ 125.1 $ 41.5

Expenses $ 13.4 $ 7.5 $ 41.4 $ 20.0
Income tax expense (recovery) 3.5 (2.0) 14.0 1.6
Net earnings $ 18.4 $ 6.2 $ 69.7 $ 19.9
Net earnings per share

- basic $ 0.34 $ 0.11 $ 1.29 $ 0.37
- fully diluted $ 0.33 $ 0.11 $ 1.26 $ 0.37

For a complete set of DPM’s financial statements as of December 31, 2006, please refer to the Financial Report 2006 which is filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and the Company’s
website at www.dundeeprecious.com.



Highlights of our Strategic 
Investment Portfolio

As at December 31, 2006, the portfolio had a market value of
approximately $189.5 million. The top three positions as at
December 31, 2006, at market are: Goldbelt Resources Limited
– $37.6 million; IAMGOLD Corporation – $32.1 million; and
Tahera Diamond Corporation – $19.7 million. As of year end
2006, the Company held equity positions in excess of 10% in
the following companies:

• Adamus Resources Limited is a Perth-based emerging gold
producer. Adamus’ main focus is on realizing the economic
potential of the 90% owned Southern Ashanti Gold Project
in Ghana, West Africa.

• Cassidy Gold Corp. is a gold exploration and development
company with its principal asset being the 100% owned
interest, subject to a 15% state participation, in the
Kouroussa, Tambiko, and Siguiri gold concessions in Guinea,
West Africa. Aggressive exploration is adding new zones of
gold mineralization into the Kouroussa resource picture.

• Crescent Gold Limited is an emerging Australian gold
producer with its primary operation being the Laverton Gold
Project located in Western Australia. Crescent Gold is also
exploring in Xinjiang and Inner Mongolia Provinces of
Western China.

• Frontier Pacific Mining Corporation is a mineral exploration
and development company based in Vancouver, British
Columbia. Frontier Pacific is focused on gold and uranium
projects in Europe and the Americas with its primary asset
being the Perama Hill gold project in northeastern Greece
which is in the advanced permitting stage.

• Goldbelt Resources Limited is committed to becoming a
significant and profitable mining company in West Africa
by exploring and developing known gold prospects that
will create long-life mines. Goldbelt is actively pursuing
other mining opportunities in West Africa while continuing
work on the Inata Project in the Belahouro License in
Burkina Faso.

DPM disposed of investments for gross proceeds of $38.2
million on which it realized a gain of $23.1 million for the three
months ended December 31, 2006, and invested $47.4 million in
strategic investments. In 2006, DPM disposed of investments
for gross proceeds of $111.1 million on which it realized a gain
of $68.7 million and invested $61.3 million in strategic
investments. During the year, $0.1 million in investments were
written down as management determined that the decline in
value was other than temporary.
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Adamus is drilling the
Southern Ashanti Gold
Project in Ghana, 
West Africa.

Crescent
announced its first
gold pour from its
Laverton Project in
Western Australia
on March 20, 2007.

Landscape view of
Frontier’s Perama Hill Gold
Project in northeastern
Greece.

Cassidy Gold Corp. continues
to drill out gold zones ahead
of scoping-scale studies at
its 100% owned Kouroussa
Gold Project in Guinea, 
West Africa.

Goldbelt recently announced
a 37% increase in its
resource ounces at its Inata
deposit in Burkina Faso.



On Balance the Case for Gold is Very Bullish

ONE: The US Dollar must inevitably decline further. The $860
billion US current account deficit in 2006 dictates this. The
financing of this deficit could become progressively more difficult
as Japanese rates inevitably rise. All else equal, the Dollar price of
gold rises when the Dollar weakens.

TWO: Central bank reserves are excessive and must be diversified.
Total reserves are in excess of $4.6 trillion, and about 65-70% of the
total is held in US Dollars. Central banks will want to diversify into
other currencies and/or possibly into gold. Either way gold benefits.

THREE: Gold is “cheap”. On an inflated-adjusted basis gold is still
near its average price for the period 1970-2006. And gold is
depressed relative to oil and various stock market indices.

FOUR: Supply is limited. This follows from #3, as exploration
budgets were cut during the low-price years. Mine output is unlikely
to rise significantly in the near term. Central bank supply is largely
limited by the Central Bank Gold Agreement, which limits gold sales
to 500 tonnes per annum (sales have actually been less!).

FIVE: The demand side of the gold market is expanding rapidly. In
the first instance Asia is becoming wealthier. In the second,
distribution networks for gold products – including investment
products such as ETF’s – are expanding rapidly. New gold
exchange markets are springing up around the world as gold
markets are deregulated. 

SIX: The commodity price cycle generally lasts for years. The
shortest up-cycle in the inflation-adjusted gold price since 1800
was 10 years, from 1970 to 1980. In other commodity markets the
shortest up-cycle is typically longer. Gold is in its sixth year of this
up-cycle.

SEVEN: Monetary policies are likely to be eased in future. In the
first instance governments must deal with the rising costs of
“baby-boomer” retirements. In the second, world demand will lag
world supply when the US consumer slows down. In order to stave
off deflation and weak economic growth looser monetary policies
will be required. Historically gold does well when monetary
policies are relaxed.

EIGHT: The geopolitical environment is gold-friendly. This is not
an attractive reason, but unfortunately true. The peak in the gold
price in 1980 came on the back of a geopolitical crisis involving
Iran and Afghanistan.

There are some near-term bearish arguments, to be sure. Interest
rates may not have finished rising and global liquidity – driven by the
low interest rates in Japan – is likely to grow less rapidly as
Japanese and Asian rates rise. But the eight arguments above are
very likely to be dominant in the gold market.

(1) US Dollar – The current account deficit suggests the 
US$ is overhauled

(2) US Dollar Reserves – Foreign exchange reserves 
have exploded

(3) Gold is “cheap” – Gold is near an all-time low in 
terms of oil

(5) Demand – Consumer expenditures on gold have 
risen dramatically

According to the Chief Economist of the Dundee Group of Companies, Dr. Martin Murenbeeld, there are at
least eight arguments to be bullish about the gold price. 

DPM thanks Dr. Martin Murenbeeld for his contribution to this page.
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AN EXPERIENCED MANAGEMENT TEAM

Jonathan Goodman
President and Chief Executive Officer
Jonathan Goodman has nearly 20 years experience in the resource and investment
industry, working as a geologist, senior analyst, portfolio manager and senior
executive. Mr. Goodman joined Goodman & Company, Investment Counsel Ltd. in 1990,
where he was responsible for the selection of Canadian equities and played a major
role in developing asset allocation strategies, before becoming the company’s
President. He is also a founder of Goepel Shields and Partners, an investment firm. He
graduated from the Colorado School of Mines as a Professional Engineer and holds a
Master of Business Administration from the University of Toronto. He is also a
Chartered Financial Analyst. Mr. Goodman currently sits on the board of directors of
Breakwater Resources Ltd., Cogitore Resources Inc., Dundee Corporation, Eurogas
Corporation, Frontier Pacific Mining Corporation, Major Drilling Group International
Inc., Odyssey Resources Ltd. and Tahera Diamond Corporation.

Julian Barnes
Executive Vice President
Julian Barnes obtained his Bachelor of Science Honours Geology degree from the
University College Swansea of Wales, UK and his PhD Philosophy from the University
of Leeds, UK. He has extensive experience in major exploration/development project
management, technical computing applications, due diligence studies, structural
analysis, exploration and mining geology, technical audits, valuations, resource
evaluations, ore reserve modeling and pit optimization. In 1987 he founded Resource
Service Group, an Australian based consulting firm, where Dr. Barnes was involved in
all technical and professional aspects including project generation, exploration
geochemistry, project scheduling and budgeting, exploration and resource computing
and quality control programs. He has also worked on numerous bankable feasibility
studies, mergers and acquisitions, and bankable due diligence studies for the majority
of major international lending institutions throughout the world. From RSG’s Perth
office he has undertaken major projects throughout the globe for a wide variety of
commodities, including precious metals, mineral sands, industrial minerals, nickel and
copper-lead-zinc. Dr. Barnes joined DPM in 2004. 

Lori E. Beak
Vice President and Corporate Secretary
Lori Beak has over 20 years of corporate legal experience and is a member of the
Canadian Society of Corporate Secretaries. She has provided corporate secretarial
services to public companies since 1986 including International Corona Resources
Ltd., the gold mining company that successfully developed the Williams Mine in
Northern Ontario. Ms. Beak joined the Legal and Compliance Department of the
Dundee Group of Companies in 1991 and most recently served as Corporate Secretary
of Dundee Corporation and Dundee Wealth Management Inc. Ms. Beak was
appointed Corporate Secretary of DPM in 2001 and Vice President in 2003. 

C. Bruce Burton
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Bruce Burton received an honours degree in Business Administration from the
University of Western Ontario and a Master of Business Administration from York
University. He is a Chartered Accountant with over 25 years experience as a senior
financial executive primarily in the natural resource industry. He was VP Finance of the
Camflo Group of companies, which were involved in gold and coal mining as well as the
oil and gas and geothermal businesses. Following a brief period with a private real
estate development company, Mr. Burton joined the Rayrock group as VP Finance and
Director. Rayrock Group was involved in gold, copper, and fertilizer mining as well as oil
and gas. Between 1999 and 2001 he was President of BlackRock Ventures Inc., a heavy
oil company which he refinanced following the hiring of an experienced operating
management team. Mr. Burton joined DPM in 2003.

Sean M. Hasson
Vice President, Exploration
Sean Hasson obtained his Bachelor of Science, Geology degree from the University of
Western Australia. He has over 10 years of experience in exploration and mining geology

relating to exploration/development project management, project generation, exploration
geochemistry, project scheduling and budgeting, together with quality control programme
management. He has extensive exploration management and mine geological experience
in Western Australia, Peru, the Philippines, Bulgaria, Serbia, Macedonia and Romania. Mr.
Hasson has managed exploration within DPM, specializing in eastern Europe. His
experience covers a wide range of commodities including gold-silver, copper, lead-zinc
and a full range of geological environments from epithermal to porphyry systems within
most of the major geological epochs. Mr. Hasson joined DPM in 2003.

Adrian Goldstone
Vice President, Environment and Sustainable Development
Adrian Goldstone obtained his Bachelor of Science and Master of Science with
honours from the University of Auckland. Over the last 25 years, his career has
included periods in government, industry and consulting. His most recent role was as
Managing Director of Kingett Mitchell Ltd., a diversified resources and environmental
consultancy based in New Zealand. Prior to that he was part of the international
development group of Colorado based Cyprus Minerals Company. Mr. Goldstone has
20 years of experience in the minerals sector in development and operating projects
and in corporate positions and has been involved in minerals projects in Africa,
Russia, Europe, Asia, the Americas, Australia and New Zealand. Mr. Goldstone is
member of the Council of the New Zealand Minerals Industry Association. He is also
recognized internationally as an expert on water management and cyanide use in the
minerals industry and has given numerous lectures, papers and short courses to
industry and other groups. Mr. Goldstone joined DPM in 2006.

Laurence D. Marsland
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
Laurie Marsland completed his Bachelor of Applied Science in Mechanical
Engineering from the Western Australia Institute of Technology and his Master of
Science in Management at the Stanford University Graduate School of Business. He
has 25 years of experience in mining project evaluation, development and
implementation. Previous tenures include Minproc Limited in Australia where he was
assigned as Project and Construction Manager for Newmont’s Yanacocha Gold Project
in northern Peru; CEO, President and Director of Laguna Gold Company; Vice President,
Project Development with Gabriel Resources and CEO and Director of Navan Mining
PLC. Mr. Marsland joined DPM in 2004. 

Paul Proulx
Vice President Human Resources
Paul Proulx obtained his Bachelor degree in Political Sciences from the University of
Western Ontario and a Masters in Industrial Relations from the University of Toronto.
Mr. Proulx has over 20 years experience in a variety of senior management roles
including, most recently, Group Vice President of Human Resources for an
international food company and with IBM’s Business Transformation Practice, where
he worked with diverse client groups in both the public and private sector. Mr. Proulx
also held a variety of senior roles with CanWel Distribution Ltd. including VP Human
Resources, VP Corporate Services and Ontario General Manager with Weston
Bakeries Ltd., where he worked in both staff and operating roles. Mr. Proulx joined
DPM in 2006.

Gabriela M. Sanchez
Vice President Investor Relations
Gabriela Sanchez received her Honours Financial Accounting degree and Master of
Business Administration from the Catholic University of Dominican Republic, under a
program sponsored by the University of South Carolina. She has over 15 years of
experience in the mining industry where she has successfully assisted increasing the
profile of growing gold mining companies. Through her previous experience in
finance, marketing, investor and community relations with companies such as Wright
Engineers, Greenstone Resources and Goldcorp Inc., Ms. Sanchez has specialized in
developing communications programs and strategies that better service the
institutional and retail investors of public mining companies. She joined DPM in 2004.
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William G. Wilson, Chairman of the Board of Directors, Director since 1983,
Member of the Compensation Committee
Mr. Wilson has been a director of Dundee Precious Metals Inc. since its
inception and is currently the company’s Chairman. He has 30 years of
experience in the mining and natural resource industry, as well as extensive
accounting experience. Mr. Wilson has served as Chief Financial Officer, and
subsequently President and Chief Operating Officer, of Cominco Ltd., an
international mining company. He was also a Partner at Clarkson, Gordon &
Co., a national accounting firm.

Mr. Wilson holds a Chartered Accountant designation. He has been a director
of numerous Canadian and International resource, manufacturing and financial
service companies and has also held numerous public positions, among them
director of the Mining Association of Canada.

Colin K. Benner, Vice Chairman, Lundin Mining Corporation, Director since
2005, Chairman of the Health, Safety & Environment Committee
Prior to March 31, 2007, Mr. Benner was also Chief Executive Officer of Lundin
Mining Corporation and, prior to December 2004, Mr. Benner was President
and Chief Executive Officer of Breakwater Resources Ltd., a base metals
mining company. He has over 35 years of experience in the mining industry and
is a Professional Engineer. His wide ranging executive positions have included
Vice Chairman and CEO of EuroZinc Mining Corporation, President and CEO of
Black Hawk Mining Inc., President of Curragh Resources Inc. and Executive
Vice President of Mining at Denison Mines Ltd. 

Mr. Benner is also a director of several mining companies. In addition to being
a Member of the Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario, the
Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of British Columbia,
and the Society of Mining Engineers of the AIME and the Canadian Institute of
Mining, Mr. Benner has also served on many advisory committees during his
career in the education, industry, safety and health and management fields, all
related to the mining industry.

Derek H. L. Buntain, President, The Dundee Bank, 
Director since 1983, Member of the Health, Safety & Environment Committee
Derek Buntain resides in the Cayman Islands, where he is President of The
Dundee Bank. He has nearly 30 years of experience in the investment industry
in Canada and abroad. His background includes positions in research,
international arbitrage, corporate and government finance and mergers and
acquisitions, with Burns Bros. and Merrill Lynch Canada Inc. He was President
of Canadian Express Limited and, in 1996, became President of Goodman &
Company (Bermuda) Limited, an investment management firm.

Mr. Buntain attended Dartmouth College and the University of Western Ontario,
where he earned a Master of Business Administration. He is also a fellow of the
Canadian Securities Institute and a director of several publicly-traded companies.

Michael J. Cooper, Chief Executive Officer and Vice Chairman, Dundee Real
Estate Investment Trust, Director since 2001, Member of the Audit Committee,
Member of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee 
Michael Cooper has 18 years of experience in real estate development and
property management. He held the position of Chief Executive Officer of
Dundee Realty from its creation in 1996 and held the dual positions of President
and Chief Executive Officer of Dundee Realty from 1998 until its reorganization
into Dundee REIT in June 2003. Prior to joining Dundee Realty, Mr. Cooper was
a Vice President of Goodman & Company, Investment Counsel Ltd., responsible
for investments in real estate and for establishing and co-managing the
Dynamic Real Estate Funds. Mr. Cooper also served as Vice-President,
Marketing and Development for Twigg holdings Limited, a developer and
manager of urban office buildings, primarily in downtown Toronto.

Mr. Cooper currently sits on the board of directors of several publicly-traded
companies. He holds a law degree from the University of Western Ontario and
received a Master of Business Administration from York University in 1986.

Jonathan Goodman, President and Chief Executive Officer, Dundee Precious
Metals Inc., Director since 1993 
Jonathan Goodman has nearly 20 years experience in the resource and
investment industry, working as a geologist, senior analyst, portfolio manager
and senior executive.

Mr. Goodman joined Goodman & Company, Investment Counsel Ltd. in 1990,
where he was responsible for the selection of Canadian equities and played a
major role in developing asset allocation strategies, before becoming the
company’s President. He is also a founder of Goepel Shields and Partners, an
investment firm. 

Mr. Goodman is also a director of several publicly-traded resource companies.
He graduated from the Colorado School of Mines as a Professional Engineer
and holds a Master of Business Administration from the University of Toronto.
He is also a Chartered Financial Analyst.

Ned Goodman, President and Chief Executive Officer, Dundee Corporation and
Dundee Wealth Management Inc., Co-Founder and Director since 1983
Ned Goodman is also Chairman of Goodman & Company, Investment Company
Ltd. He has almost four decades of investment experience as a securities
analyst, portfolio manager and senior executive. He has an established
reputation as one of Canada’s most successful investment counselors and is
the lead portfolio manager for the Dynamic Focus+ family of funds.

Mr. Goodman has a Bachelor of Science degree from McGill University and a
Master of Business Administration from the University of Toronto. He earned
the designation of Chartered Financial Analyst in 1967. In 1997, he was awarded
a Doctorate of Laws, honoris causa, by Concordia University.

Mr. Goodman is also chairman of the Board of Trustees of Dundee REIT and a
director of several resource companies. He is actively involved in various
philanthropic activities, is Chairman Emeritus of the Canadian Council of
Christians and Jews and a Governor of Junior Achievement of Canada.

The Board of Directors

William G. Wilson Colin K. Benner Derek H. L. Buntain Michael J. Cooper Jonathan Goodman Ned Goodman
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Murray John, President and Chief Executive Officer, Dundee Resources
Limited, Director since 2005, Member of the Health, Safety & Environment
Committee
Murray John is also a director, President and Chief Executive Officer of
Corona Gold Corporation, an exploration company. Prior to September 2004,
Mr. John was an investment banker with Dundee Securities Corporation, a
securities dealer.

Mr. John began his investment career with Goodman & Company, Investment
Counsel Ltd. as a mining analyst in 1993 and subsequently worked as a
portfolio manager specializing in precious metals equities from 1995 to 1998.
He joined Dundee Securities Corporation as a research analyst in 1998 and
moved to the mining investment banking team in early 2001. He acquired
extensive experience working as a mining engineer for Strathcona Mineral
Services Ltd., Nanisivik Mines Ltd. and Eldorado Nuclear Limited. 

Mr. John also serves on the board of directors of Iberian Minerals Corp. After
graduating from the Camborne School of Mines in 1980, Mr. John received a
Master of Business Administration from the University of Toronto in 1992. 

John Lydall, Director since 2003, Chairman of the Compensation Committee,
Member of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
John Lydall has had a distinguished career in mining and financial markets. In
the early part of his professional life, he gained extensive underground mining
experience. Later, during the 26 years he spent with National Bank Financial
and its predecessor company, First Marathon, he was a top-ranked mining
analyst and an investment banking executive. Prior to his retirement, he was
Managing Director of the firm’s mining investment banking group.

During his career, Mr. Lydall has advised on, and participated in, financings
for many North American mining companies. He also served on the boards
and committees of several professional and educational organizations.

Mr. Lydall holds a degree in Mining Engineering from Nottingham University
and a Master of Business Administration from Cranfield University. He is also
a director of Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation and FNX Mining Company Inc.

Garth A. C. MacRae, Director since 1988, Member of the Audit Committee,
Member of the Health, Safety & Environment Committee
Garth MacRae brings to the board of directors of Dundee Precious Metals
over 30 years of experience in the resource industry, as well as over 16 years
of public accounting experience.

Mr. MacRae has held executive positions with Hudson Bay Mining, Brinco
Limited and Denison Mines Limited and served as Vice Chairman of Dundee
Corporation from 1993 until 2004. He also served as Chairman of Dundee
Precious Metals from 1995 until 2002.

Mr. MacRae holds a Chartered Accountant designation. He is also a director
of several natural resource companies.

Peter B. Nixon, Director since 2002, Member of the Compensation Committee,
Chairman of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
Peter Nixon has spent more than three decades in the investment industry,
specializing in the natural resource sector and working primarily in research
and institutional sales. He helped found the investment firm Goepel Shields &
Partners and was subsequently President of the firm’s U.S. subsidiary. He
later joined Dundee Securities, with the mandate to expand the company’s
activities in the United States.

Mr. Nixon is also a director of several publicly-traded natural resource
companies.

Ronald Singer, Director since 1998, Chairman of the Audit Committee,
Member of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
Ronald Singer is a Chartered Accountant. He was a senior partner with Hyde
Houghton, Chartered Accountants, until his retirement. His practice focused
on corporate clients, both private and public, and specialized in the purchase
and sale of businesses and corporate reorganizations. 

Mr. Singer is also Chairman of the board of governors for the Dynamic family
of mutual funds and a consultant to the Cree Economic Enterprises Company
of Quebec. Mr. Singer was named a Fellow of the Quebec Order of Chartered
Accountants in 1988.

Brian J. Steck, President, St. Andrews Financial Corp., Director since 2006,
Member of the Audit Committee
Brian Steck has over 22 years experience in investment banking, institutional
equity sales and wealth management. He became CEO of Nesbitt Thomson &
Company Limited and subsidiaries in 1987 and Chairman in 1989. He was
appointed Vice-Chairman of Bank of Montreal in 1992, responsible for wealth
management and investment banking. Mr. Steck remained Chairman and CEO
after merging both Nesbitt Thomson and Burns Fry until his retirement from
both in 1999. 

Mr. Steck is past Chairman of the Investment Dealers Association of Canada,
the Canadian Securities Institute and the Canadian District of the Securities
Industry Association of America. He is past Governor of the Toronto Stock
Exchange. Mr. Steck is also a director of other investment and service
related companies.

Mr. Steck obtained a Bachelor of Commerce degree from Concordia
University and a Master of Business Administration from the Wharton
Graduate School of Finance.

Murray John John Lydall Garth A. C. MacRae Peter B. Nixon Ronald Singer Brian J. Steck
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
of Consolidated Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
for the Financial Year Ended December 31, 2006 

(All figures in Canadian Dollars unless otherwise stated) 
 

The following is management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of the consolidated financial condition 
and results of operations of Dundee Precious Metals Inc. (“DPM” or the “Company”) for the financial year 
ended December 31, 2006. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial 
statements and the notes thereto.  
 
This information is provided as at February 20, 2007. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS  
 

• DPM had net earnings of $18.4 million or $0.34 per share ($0.33 per share on a diluted basis) for the 
three months ended December 31, 2006, compared with net earnings of $6.2 million or $0.11 per share 
for the three months ended December 31, 2005. In 2006, DPM had net earnings of $69.7 million or 
$1.29 per share ($1.26 on a diluted basis) in comparison to the prior year’s net earnings of $19.9 million 
or $0.37 per share. 

• As at December 31, 2006, the Company had working capital of $40.7 million and an investment 
portfolio with a market value of $189.5 million, which in the aggregate equated to $4.26 per share, 
down from $5.12 per share at December 31, 2005. 

• The Chelopech gold/copper mine reported revenue of $29.5 million on sales of 25,366 tonnes of 
gold/copper concentrate for the three months ended December 31, 2006, as a result of high 
commodity prices. For the year ended December 31, 2006, Chelopech had revenues of $106.2 million 
on sales of 64,939 tonnes of gold/copper concentrate. Kapan had revenues of $4.7 million for the four 
months ended December 31, 2006 on sales of 1,300 tonnes of gold/copper concentrate and 1,702 
tonnes of zinc concentrate. 

• Investment activities generated investment income of $23.1 million and $68.7 million for the three and 
twelve months ended December 31, 2006, respectively. 

 
SIGNIFICANT CURRENT EVENTS 
 

• On October 24, 2006, the Bulgarian Court ruled in favour of the Company's claim that the Minister of 
Environment and Waters (“MoEW”) failure to issue a final resolution on the Chelopech Environmental 
Impact Assessment (“EIA”) was unlawful and should be interpreted as a silent refusal and has ordered 
the Minister to issue a final resolution on the project. The MoEW has appealed the decision and a 
hearing is scheduled for February 22, 2007. 

• The MoEW continues to withhold approval of the Chelopech EIA. It has been reported in the press that 
the MoEW wants additional State participation in the project. DPM’s position is that the royalty rate is 
globally competitive and that the existing concession agreement, which is with the Ministry of 
Economy and Energy on behalf of the Republic of Bulgaria, cannot be unilaterally altered. 

• On February 13, 2007, the Supreme Administrative Court of Bulgaria (“the Court”) revoked the silent 
refusal of the MoEW on the Krumovgrad EIA. The Environmental Protection Act (“EPA”) does not 
provide for a silent refusal and therefore, the MoEW has been required to issue a pronouncement on 
the EIA. This decision is open to appeal to the five member panel Court of Appeal in Bulgaria for 
fourteen days from receipt of official notification by the parties. 

• As the market for high arsenic bearing concentrate weakens, and the final approval of the Chelopech 
EIA is further delayed, the Company continues assessing alternative locations for its proposed metal 
processing facilities. This situation will likely result in a slowing down or suspension of operations at 
Chelopech in 2008 until facilities capable of processing the Chelopech material can be constructed 
and commissioned or alternative markets for the Chelopech concentrate can be found. 
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CORPORATE OVERVIEW 
 
DPM is a Canadian based, international mining company engaged in the acquisition, exploration, 
development and mining of precious metal properties. Its common shares (symbol DPM) are traded on 
the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”).  
 
Effective April 1, 2004, DPM changed from a closed-end investment company to an operating mining 
company. For periods prior to the effective date of conversion, investments were marked-to-market and 
the operations related only to the investment activities carried on by the Company. As at April 1, 2004, the 
mining operations previously acquired were consolidated with the accounts of the Company and the basis 
of accounting for investments was changed to the cost method. 
 
In Bulgaria, the Company currently owns an operating underground gold/copper mine (“Chelopech”) which 
is being expanded and is in the process of obtaining regulatory approval for the expansion and conversion 
from concentrate to metal production; and a feasibility stage gold project (“Krumovgrad Gold Project”) 
which is awaiting regulatory approval for construction and operation. In addition, DPM holds a number of 
active exploration properties in the Central and Eastern Rhodope regions of the Balkans. In February 
2005, the Company acquired an option to earn an interest in certain exploration properties located in 
Nunavut in the Canadian Arctic (the “Back River Project”). On July 25, 2006, DPM announced it had 
completed the purchase of a 100% interest in the Back River Project. On April 26, 2006, DPM announced 
that it had signed three significant exploration and exploitation concessions in one of the larger gold-
copper-silver mining regions in Serbia making the Company the largest concession holder in the country. 
On August 23, 2006, DPM acquired 80% of Vatrin Investment Limited (“Vatrin”), a private entity which 
holds 100% of Deno Gold Mining Company (“Deno Gold”), its principal asset being the Kapan Mining 
Project (“Kapan”), a gold, copper, zinc concentrates producer in Southern Armenia. 
 
DPM’s business objectives are to identify, acquire, finance, develop and operate low cost, long life gold 
mining properties; and to provide support to selected mining companies by providing required capital 
through strategic investments. The Company intends to create shareholder value through its disciplined 
but opportunistic business model. The Company is assembling a pipeline of mining projects at various 
stages of development. The Company currently has projects in: (1) the operating and redevelopment 
stage; (2) the feasibility and development stage; (3) the scoping and advanced exploration stage; and (4) 
the early exploration stage. DPM intends to maximize the potential of and realize value through the 
exploration, development and operation of its existing properties. The Company is also actively evaluating 
acquisition opportunities of mining properties to fill and expand its project pipeline as well as continuing to 
make strategic market purchases of mining securities where synergistic opportunities exist in order to 
balance its pipeline for continued growth. 
 
DPM had working capital aggregating $40.7 million and an investment portfolio with a market value of 
$189.5 million, which in the aggregate equates to $4.26 per share as at December 31, 2006. These funds 
are available to: (1) fund the working capital requirements of the Company’s mining, exploration and 
corporate activities; (2) provide funding to support the planned development activities at its mining 
properties; and (3) finance DPM’s strategic investment and corporate development initiatives. The 
Company’s strategy is to sell certain non-strategic portfolio investments at appropriate times and use the 
proceeds to make strategic investments and to fund exploration and development activities, as required. 
One of the Company’s key business strategies is to add to its mining pipeline through corporate and 
property acquisitions. This is achieved by: (1) providing early stage financing to exploration companies 
and establishing a relationship in order to be able to participate when a development partner is required; 
or (2) monitoring mining activities in targeted jurisdictions worldwide to identify and evaluate properties 
which could fill DPM’s project pipeline and then initiating discussions with the owners of these prospective 
assets. The Company continues to be active on both fronts. 
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2006 RESULTS 
 
Mining Activities 
 
Chelopech Gold/Copper Mine, Bulgaria 
 
Operations 
 
In August 2006, Chelopech was chosen as a winner in the International Green Apple Environment Awards 
of The Green Organization for its mining rehabilitation program and was invited to become one of their 
Green Heroes 2007. This is the first time an organization in Bulgaria has won the gold prize. The Green 
Organization is an independent, non-profit environmental group, based in the United Kingdom, dedicated 
to promoting the positive side of environmental endeavour. The Green Apple Awards are awarded annually 
to those who recognize, reward and promote environmental best practice around the world.  
 
The Company continues to operate the Chelopech Mine during the period of permitting and redevelopment. 
The following is a brief summary of the operating performance of mining and concentrate production. 
 
Production, Costs and Sales 
(in thousands of US$ except as otherwise stated)  Three Months  Twelve Months 
As at December 31, 2006 2005 2006 2005
Ore mined (mt) 252,201 248,408 920,150 911,179
Ore processed (mt) 249,838 227,320 952,753 851,964
Head grade (ore milled)  

Copper (%) 1.70 1.65 1.41 1.59
Gold (g/mt) 4.83 4.17 3.99 4.21

Concentrate produced (mt) 22,389 19,323 70,108 67,755
Metals contained in concentrate produced  

Copper (lbs) 8,141,122 7,044,752 25,361,802 24,621,274
Copper (% recovered) 86.78 85.2 85.36 82.5
Gold (ounces) 23,878 17,205 70,781 56,879
Gold (% recovered) 61.6 56.5 58.0 49.3

Cash cost per tonne of ore processed $ 33.03 $ 38.32 $ 31.22 $ 34.91
Cash cost per pound of copper in  

concentrate (1) $ 0.63 $ 0.70 $ 0.72 $ 0.67
Cash cost per ounce of gold in concentrate (1) $ 112 $ 178 $ 143 $ 183
Value of Copper and Gold in Concentrate  

Sold (US$000) (2) $ 44,261 $ 34,167 $ 100,420 $ 68,918
Sales   

Sales (US$000) (3) $ 25,662 $ 28,336 $ 93,476 $ 52,285
Sales (Cdn$000) $ 29,492 $ 32,328 $ 106,233 $ 63,234
Concentrate (dmt) 25,366 32,580 64,939 71,799
Copper in concentrate (lbs) 8,643,471 11,726,376 22,673,114 25,787,681
Gold in concentrate (ounces) 24,402 27,896 58,569 60,355

(1) Gold and copper are accounted for as co-products. Copper units are converted into gold units using the ratio of 
the average gold value to the average copper value for the period. Total cash costs per ounce are net of by-
product silver sales revenue. 

(2) Deductions from gross metal values are made for treatment charges, penalties, transportation and other selling 
costs to arrive at the value received for concentrate sold. 

(3) Included in sales is a reduction of US$6.0 million and an increase of US$18.5 million (2005 - US$5.5 million and 
US$8.5 million) for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2006, respectively, related to the change
in metal prices on the settlement date from the provisional sales amounts reported at the end of the prior period. 
The large increase in 2006 related to the significant increases in metal prices realized. 
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Production  
 
Ore hoisted in the fourth quarter of 2006 was 2% more than the fourth quarter of 2005 totalling 252,000 
tonnes at 1.72% Cu and 4.81 g/t Au (2005 - 248,000 tonnes at 1.66% Cu and 4.16 g/t Au). Ore processed 
was 250,000 tonnes at 1.70% Cu and 4.83 g/t Au, up 10% from comparable period production in 2005 of 
227,000 tonnes. 
 
Concentrate production for the fourth quarter of 2006 was 22,389 tonnes, 16% more than the 19,323 tonnes 
produced in the comparable period of the prior year. Copper metal contained in concentrate was 8.1 million 
pounds, which was more than production for the comparable period of the previous year by 16%.  
 
Higher concentrate production and copper metal contained is attributable to the higher tonnage through 
the process plant, higher copper grade of the ore being mined during the fourth quarter of 2006 and 
improved metal recoveries as compared to 2005. Gold metal contained in concentrate produced was 
23,878 ounces, which exceeded the comparable period of the previous year’s production by 39%. 
 
Ongoing operational improvements at the process plant have continued to demonstrate significant 
benefit, with up to 3% improvement in metal recoveries over the regression algorithm model used to 
predict recovery for copper over the last quarter, and an improvement of 2% recovery for gold.  
 
Ore hoisted in 2006 was 1% more than 2005 totalling 920,000 tonnes at 1.41% Cu and 3.97 g/t Au (2005 
- 911,000 tonnes at 1.59% Cu and 4.21 g/t Au). Ore processed was 953,000 tonnes at 1.41% Cu and 
3.99 g/t Au, up 12% from production in 2005 of 852,000 tonnes. The unprocessed ore stock pile at 
surface has been reduced to 27,612 tonnes at December 31, 2006. 
 
Concentrate production for 2006 was 70,108 tonnes, 4% more than the 67,755 tonnes produced in the 
prior year. Copper metal contained in concentrate was 25.4 million lbs, which was higher than production 
for the previous year by 3%. Gold metal contained in concentrate produced was 70,781 oz, which 
exceeded the previous year’s production by 24%. 
 
Sales 
 
Sales of gold/copper concentrate totalled 25,366 tonnes for the fourth quarter of 2006, down by 22% from 
the fourth quarter of 2005 sales of 32,580 tonnes due to a delay of sales in December. Sales yielded 
revenue, net of freight, treatment charges, penalties and other selling costs, of US$25.7 million (2005 - 
US$28.3 million). The Company benefited from the robust increase in metal prices, realizing average prices 
for the quarter of US$610 (2005 - US$437) per oz of gold and US$3.40 (2005 - US$1.71) per lb of copper. 
 
Sales of gold/copper concentrate totalled 64,939 tonnes for 2006, down 10% from 2005 sales of 71,799 
tonnes. Sales yielded revenue, net of freight, treatment charges, penalties and other selling costs, of 
US$93.5 million (2005 - US$52.3 million). The Company benefited from the robust increase in metal prices, 
realizing average prices for 2006 of US$584 (2005 - US$449) per oz of gold and US$2.92 (2005 - US$1.69) 
per lb of copper. The continued decline in copper prices has reduced the value of shipments with open 
quotational periods by US$6.2 million for the fourth quarter of 2006 (2005 - increase by US$5.5 million). 
 
Expansion and Redevelopment 
 
On December 8, 2005, DPM’s Board of Directors approved an investment of US$175 million to undertake 
the mine expansion and construction of a Metal Production Facility (“MPF”) at Chelopech. This 
investment is based on the results to date of its Definitive Feasibility Study (“DFS”) undertaken by GRD 
Minproc Ltd. The continuing delay of the permitting process will cause a revision of the DFS to take place 
once approval of the EIA has been given. 
 
As a result of the delay in the approval of the EIA, the schedule for ramp-up in production and completion 
of the facilities by the end of 2007 will not be possible, and is therefore postponed to the second half of 
2008. Any further delay in the approval of the EIA may lead to further extension of the schedule and this 
will likely result in the suspension of operations for at least some part of 2008. The Company is hopeful 
that this dispute will be resolved. 
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The Project 
 
DPM proposes to increase mine production and construct a facility to produce gold and copper metals. 
The process will also convert the arsenic present in the concentrate into an environmentally stable form 
suitable for safe disposal into a Tailings Management Facility (“TMF”). The scope of the DFS incorporates 
the current operation, upgrade of the existing mine and flotation plant, upgrade of existing infrastructure 
and facilities and the new MPF. 
 
The Chelopech expansion project includes the expansion of mine production capacity to 2.0 million 
tonnes per year, including the completion of a decline from surface to underground, and modernization of 
the existing flotation concentrator to handle the capacity, including the introduction of a new semi-
autogenous grinding mill. Based on present measured and indicated resources and other DFS results, 
the life of mine for the operation is expected to be a minimum of 9.3 years from commissioning of the new 
facilities. 
 
An EIA was completed by the Balkan Science and Education Centre of Ecology and Environment and 
submitted to the Bulgarian MoEW on November 3, 2005. On March 10, 2006, the Supreme Expert 
Environmental Council (“SEEC”) voted in favour of the resolution to approve the EIA, with the exception 
of the Chairman (Deputy Minister of MoEW). As a result of the Deputy Minister’s dissenting vote, the 
Minister of MoEW called for another SEEC hearing on March 28, 2006. At this hearing, the vote was in 
favour of approving the EIA however the Minister of MoEW has failed to ratify the approval of the EIA, 
even after positive opinions were received from the Ministry of Economy and Energy. Following the expiry 
of the legislative deadline for a decision on March 29, 2006, the Company lodged an appeal with the 
Bulgarian Court against the Minister of MoEW and his failure to issue a final resolution on the Chelopech 
EIA. On October 24, 2006, the Bulgarian Court ruled in favour of the Company's claim that the MoEW's 
failure to issue a final resolution on the Chelopech EIA was unlawful and should be interpreted as a silent 
refusal and has ordered the Minister to issue a final resolution on the project. The decision was appealed 
by the MoEW and a hearing has been scheduled for February 22, 2007. 
 
It has been reported in the press that the MoEW has publicly stated that the current royalty paid by 
Chelopech is insufficient and additional State participation in the project is required. DPM’s position is that 
the royalty rate is globally competitive, and there is no precedent in the European Union for state 
ownership of mining assets once privatized. Furthermore, the Chelopech concession agreement is 
between the Minister of Economy and Energy, on behalf of the Republic of Bulgaria, and the Company 
and cannot be altered without DPM’s consent. The reported position of the MoEW, therefore, may not 
represent the official position of the Government of Bulgaria and the Company is endeavouring to 
demonstrate that the existing arrangements are in the best interests of the State. As a result of the 
continuing delays with the EIA approvals, the Chelopech Mine will likely suspend operations for at least 
part of 2008 with the attendant loss of employment, which the Company finds regrettable. 
 
Current Development Activities 
 
The mining method has changed from sublevel caving to long hole open stoping and improvements in 
equipment and workforce skill training are ongoing in order to increase mine production to a rate of 
2.0 million tonnes per year. 
 
Construction of a 2,500 metre decline, including ancillary development, from surface to the underground 
mine workings began in April 2004 from both the surface portal and the underground exit point. Actual 
metres advanced were below target due to poor ground conditions. A new “road header” tunnelling 
machine was brought in to service in mid 2005; however, stabilizing the ground conditions behind the 
advancing road header has continued to present challenges. As of December 31, 2006, 62% of the decline 
had been completed. 
 
Development of the project requires the acquisition of land from a variety of stakeholders in the 
Chelopech and Chavdar Municipalities. The land is required for the new TMF; and a buffer zone around 
the existing and new TMF’s. The land purchase program is well advanced. 
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Deno Gold/Copper-Zinc Mine, Armenia 
 
On August 23, 2006, DPM announced that it had acquired 80% of Vatrin, effective August 31, 2006. 
Vatrin holds 100% of Deno Gold, with its principal asset being Kapan, a gold, copper, zinc mine, located 
in Southern Armenia. The transaction amounted to US$22 million, plus an additional US$10 million 
investment commitment for mine expansion and transaction costs of $1.2 million. 
 
Kapan has annual production of approximately 300,000 tonnes of ore from its current underground 
operations, where precious metals contribute approximately 50% of its revenues. DPM intends to expand 
the underground operations and introduce open pit mining to maximize the present mine milling capacity 
to over 1 million tonnes/year. The concentrate produced at Kapan is readily saleable due to the lack of 
impurities or deleterious elements. 
 
As part of Deno Gold’s plan for the development of Kapan, a loan was sought and approved by the 
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development for US$4.5 million. The proceeds have been used 
for capital equipment and environmental improvements.  
 
The mining operation is based on two deposits, a copper, minor gold-silver underground mine, known as 
Central, and a polymetallic deposit of gold, copper, silver, zinc and minor lead, known as Shahumyan, 
which remains open at depth, to the North and possibly to the South. It is located approximately 1.5km 
from the town of Kapan and some 320km south of the Armenian capital of Yerevan. Concentrates from 
the project are transported by road to the town of Ararat (60km south of Yerevan) where they are 
offloaded onto the rail system for transport to the Black Sea via Georgia. 
 
Production, Costs and Sales 
  Three Months Four Months

(in thousands of US$ except as otherwise stated) 
December 31, 

2006 
December 31, 

2006
Ore mined (mt) 77,291 111,875
Ore processed (mt) 77,291 111,875
Head grade (ore milled)  

Copper (%) 0.28 0.29
Gold (g/mt) 0.98 1.16
Zinc (%) 1.07 1.40

Concentrate produced (mt) 1,632 2,956
Metals contained in concentrate produced  

Copper (lbs) 349,379 519,570
Copper (% recovered) 72.1 72.1
Gold (ounces) 1,288 2,409
Gold (% recovered) 52.9 57.6
Zinc (lbs) 1,076,834 2,154,391
Zinc (% recovered) 58.8 62.5

Cash cost per tonne of ore processed (US$) $ 38.24 $ 34.19
Cash cost per pound of Copper in Concentrate (US$) (1) $ 2.21 $ 1.56
Cash cost per ounce of Gold in Concentrate (US$) (1) $ 418 $ 293
Cash cost per pound of Zinc in Concentrate (US$) $ 1.18 $ 0.76
Value of Copper and Gold in Concentrate Sold (US$000) (2) $ 1,867 $ 2,723
Sales   

Sales (US$000) $ 2,949 $ 4,149
Sales (Cdn$000) $ 3,360 $ 4,702
Concentrate (dmt) 2,223 3,002
Copper in concentrate (lbs) 337,828 493,037
Gold in concentrate (ounces) 1,240 1,737
Zinc in concentrate (lbs) 1,167,524 1,457,302

(1) Gold and copper are accounted for as co-products. Copper units are converted into gold units using the 
ratio of the average gold value to the average copper value for the period. Total cash costs per ounce are
net of by-product silver sales revenue. 

(2) Deductions from gross metal values are made for treatment charges, penalties, transportation and other 
selling costs to arrive at the value received for concentrate sold. 
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Production 
 
The current mining method of narrow vein mining will result in significant variances in grade on a month-
to-month basis as evidenced by the historical performance of the mine. DPM anticipates these variances 
to continue until the mining method is supplemented by open pit mining. 
 
Ore hoisted in the fourth quarter of 2006 totaled 77,000 tonnes and 112,000 tonnes since acquisition. Ore 
processed for the quarter was 77,000 tonnes at 0.28% Cu, 1.07% Zn and 0.98 g/t Au and for the last four 
months was 112,000 tonnes at 0.29% Cu, 1.40% Zn and 1.16 g/t Au. 
 
Concentrate production for the fou rth quarter of 2006 was 1,632 tonnes and for the last four months was 
2,956 tonnes. Copper metal contained in concentrate for the quarter was 0.3 million pounds and for the 
four months ended December 31, 2006 was 0.5 million pounds. Gold metal contained in concentrate 
produced for the quarter was 1,288 ounces and since acquisition was 2,409 ounces. Zinc metal contained 
in concentrate for the quarter was 1.1 million pounds and since acquisition was 2.2 million pounds. 
 
Concentrate sales for the fourth quarter of 2006 were 2,223 tonnes and for the four months ended 
December 31, 2006 was 3,002 tonnes. Sales yielded revenue, net of freight, treatment charges, penalties 
and other selling costs, of US$2.9 million during the fourth quarter and US$4.1 million for the last four 
months. Average realized metal prices for the fourth quarter were US$617 per oz of gold, US$3.26 per lb 
of copper, and US$1.74 per lb of zinc. For the four months ended December 31, 2006, the Company had 
average realized prices of US$621 per oz of gold, US$3.33 per lb of copper and US$1.69 per lb of zinc. 
 
Resources 
 
As part of standard Soviet era practice, extensive diamond drilling and underground development was 
undertaken at both the Shahumyan and Central deposits. For example, databases compiled by Deno 
Gold based on Soviet era records, indicate that over 290,000m of surface and underground diamond 
drilling and 32,000m of underground channel sampling was completed to assess the Shahumyan deposit. 
No drill core remains from the Soviet era exploration programs. Based on information compiled by Deno 
Gold, Soviet era reports prepared for, and reportedly approved by, the Armenian government listed the 
following combined C1 and C2 resources for the Shahumyan and Central deposits. 
 
Historical Resources 

Deposit 
Date of 
Report 

Tonnes 
(million) Cu% Au g/t Zn% Ag g/t Pb% 

Shahumyan 1989 12.4 0.56 2.5 2.5 50 0.2 
Central 1979 2.9 0.99 - - - - 

 
It is understood that the resources were compiled using a sectional, polygonal estimation method; 
however, the exact estimation parameters are not known. As part of its due diligence process, DPM staff 
independently collected over 700kg of samples throughout the accessible sections of the Shahumyan 
deposit for assay, mineralogical studies and metallurgical testwork. Assaying of the DPM samples 
confirmed the overall tenor of the mineralization. In addition, mining and processing of the deposit since 
Deno Gold’s acquisition of the project in 2003 has confirmed the tenor of the deposit. DPM has also 
independently sampled the mill feed and tails from the processing plant, including reference samples from 
previous years of production. 
 
DPM plans to undertake an extensive drilling programme as part of its proposed activities in order to 
confirm the scale of the deposit and to enable a National Instrument 43-101 (“NI 43-101”) compliant 
resource to be estimated and to be used as the source for mine scheduling as part of a DFS. 
 
All resource estimates quoted herein are based on prior data and reports obtained and prepared 
by previous operators and information provided by the State. The Company has not completed 
the work necessary to verify the classification of the mineral resource estimates. The Company is 
not treating the mineral resource estimates as NI 43-101 defined resources verified by a qualified 
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person. The historical estimates should not be relied upon. These properties will require 
considerable further evaluation which DPM’s management and consultants intend to carry out in 
due course.  
 
Geology and Mineralization 
 
The prolific Tethyan Mineralized Belt extends from east to west through the Mediterranean, Eastern 
Europe, Asia and passes through Southern Armenia. This belt is host to numerous world class porphyry 
copper-gold, polymetallic vein arrays and epithermal gold-silver deposits. The same belt is the host to 
DPM’s Chelopech deposit and the deposits of the Bor area in Serbia. 
 
At Shahumyan, mineralization is hosted in strongly altered dacite, andesite and basaltic host rocks. The 
vein arrays at Shahumyan cover an area of over 2.5km by 1.5km and are known to extend for at least 
400m vertical depth. The main ore minerals are chalcopyrite, sphalerite, pyrite and minor galena. The 
Central deposit is a quartz-carbonate-sulphide (chalcopyrite and pyrite) vein array with strong similarity to 
porphyry related mineralization. 
 
None of the deposits contain material quantities of deleterious elements which would incur penalties in 
the treatment of concentrate. 
 
Processing 
 
A crushing and flotation plant has been developed at Shahumyan using typical Soviet era construction 
and layouts. After primary and secondary crushing, material is transported to a storage area by conveyor 
to supply the concentrator. The current Shahumyan and Central ore (crusher product size of 20-30mm) 
passes through a rod-mill, followed by a ball mill and a small re-grind mill. The primary cyclone overflow 
feeds the flotation circuit comprising conventional Russian Denver style flotation cells to differentially float 
a gold rich copper concentrate and a zinc concentrate. There are three main thickeners, each 24m 
diameter, one for each type of concentrate produced (Central mine copper, Shahumyan copper-gold and 
Shahumyan zinc) and one small 8m diameter thickener serving the uncommissioned lead concentrate 
circuit. Thickened concentrates are then dried using vacuum filters producing a copper (high gold and 
high silver) concentrate and a separate high zinc (gold – silver) concentrate. DPM’s assessment of the 
plant suggests that it is capable of 1 million to 1.25 million tonnes per year throughput, and capital has 
been budgeted to improve current metal recoveries. 
  
Krumovgrad Gold Project, Bulgaria 
 
The Krumovgrad Gold Project, which is held under an Exploration License expiring in June 2007, has a 
proven and probable mineral reserve of approximately 4.86 million tonnes of ore grading 5.08 grams of 
gold per tonne (794,000 contained ounces of gold). A DFS completed in 2005 was prepared by Ausenco 
Limited of Perth, Australia. On July 5, 2005, the Board of Directors approved the DFS for the construction 
and operation of the project situated in southeastern Bulgaria. The DFS estimated construction costs for 
the proposed open pit mine and related facilities of US$75 million, with low unit cash operating costs, 
after tax payback in less than two years and annual gold production of 150,000 ounces per year for the 
first four years. 
 
The method selected is a conventional open pit, drill, blast, load and haul operation, using a hydraulic 
excavator to carry out selective mining, similar to many small tonnage open pit gold mining operations 
throughout the world. The mining equipment will be owner operated and will be maintained by the 
equipment supplier. 
 
A three stage pit design has been optimized based on practical push back dimensions and ore 
requirements, minimizing stripping requirements early in the mine life and the mining rates. 
 
The mine is expected to produce a total of 4.9 million tonnes of ore (including the low grade stockpile) 
over its operating life, which will be processed at an average rate of 850,000 tonnes of ore per year for 



  DUNDEE PRECIOUS METALS INC.   |   2006 FINANCIAL REPORT 10 

the Upper Zone material, reducing to 750,000 tonnes for the Wall Zone material. The schedule envisages 
blending the two material types. 
 
Permitting 
 
With strong support at the central bureaucratic level and a public acknowledgement by the MoEW that the 
project was designed to exceed key European Union (“EU”) environmental guidelines, the Corporation 
has conducted a comprehensive lobbying effort in an attempt to move the project forward. 

 
In addition, to address the principal concerns expressed by local politicians, DPM has offered to provide 
financial guarantees to cover the cost of closure and rehabilitation, and to establish a sustainable 
development fund specifically designed to replace job loss upon mine closure. 
 
An EIA, filed with the Bulgarian MoEW in April 2005, incorporating best available techniques designed to 
meet or exceed Bulgarian and EU guidelines, is being held in abeyance by the MoEW without 
explanation. To protect the Corporation’s interests, a legal appeal was filed December 2005 with the 
Court against the MoEW for failure to rule on DPM’s EIA submission within the timeframe allowed by 
Bulgarian legislation. 
 
The Company claimed that the non-rendering of a resolution by the MoEW on the Krumovgrad EIA within 
three months of the public hearings is a silent refusal that directly infringes on the rights of the Company. 
The essence of the presumption is that in a case where an administrative body is authorized to issue an 
individual administrative act, including a decision, and it fails to do so within the statutory time limits, the 
non-issuance of the act is considered a silent refusal. The Company requested the Court to revoke the 
silent refusal of the MoEW and approve the EIA or, alternatively, to instruct the MoEW to address the 
matter appropriately in compliance with Bulgarian law. 
 
After a public hearing of the case on May 15, 2006, the Court, consisting of a panel of three judges, 
issued its Ruling on July 10, 2006 for the termination of the court proceedings on the grounds of the 
inadmissibility of the claim. DPM appealed the Court’s Ruling. On November 1, 2006, a five member 
panel of the Court of Appeal in Bulgaria agreed with the Company’s arguments and revoked the Ruling 
passed by the Court on July 10, 2006 that the Company’s claim regarding the silent refusal of the MoEW 
on the Krumovgrad EIA was inadmissible. The Ruling by the Court of Appeal confirms that the EPA 
obliges the Minister to render a decision on the EIA within a three month period, as specified in the 
legislation, and confirms that DPM’s case is admissible. Consequently, the case was returned to the 
Court with instructions to decide on the merits of DPM’s claim.  
 
The MoEW has recently proposed that the Krumovgrad project be included in lands designated as part of 
Natura 2000, a European Union directive of setting aside areas of conservation designed to protect the most 
seriously threatened habitats and species. It is unclear at this time whether this property meets EU criteria. 
 
The Company’s case was heard again by the three member panel on January 15, 2007. The MoEW 
offered into evidence a letter and map indicating Ada Tepe was situated within the proposed Natura 2000 
territories. While DPM had no new evidence to submit, the Company’s lawyers restated the basis of the 
original appeal and challenged the validity of the new evidence presented by the MoEW. The Court 
accepted the new evidence as admissible. On February 13, 2007, the Court revoked the silent refusal of 
the MoEW on the Krumovgrad EIA. The Court ruled that by failing to issue a pronouncement on the EIA 
within the statutory timeframe the MoEW has breached the procedural rules under the EPA. This Act 
does not provide for a silent refusal and therefore the MoEW has been required to issue a 
pronouncement on the Krumovgrad EIA. This decision is open to appeal to a full five member panel for 
fourteen days from receipt of official notification by the parties. 
 
As previously announced, all engineering and procurement activities were suspended in May 2006. This 
is in addition to the suspension of the resettlement program which occurred at the end of February 2006. 
Consequently, the Krumovgrad Gold Project will be delayed until such time as the MoEW meets its legal 
obligations and approves the EIA which has been deemed to be fully compliant by independent 
international and licensed Bulgarian environmental experts. 
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Exploration 
 
Back River Project, Canada 
 
As of December 31, 2006, a total of 79 drill holes totalling approximately 24,000m of diamond drilling 
were completed on the Back River Project mineral claims. The 2006 diamond drill program focused on 
both discovery level targets located on the George Lake, Boot Lake and Boulder Pond properties and 
also consisted of resource expansion drill programs at the Goose Lake and George Lake deposits. The 
objective of the resource drill program was to test the strike and depth projections of the Goose Lake and 
George Lake resource footprints. 
 
An exploration budget of up to $18.4 million is proposed for the Back River Project in 2007. A diamond 
drill program is aimed at expanding the resource base of both the deposits at George Lake. Additional 
diamond drilling is planned to test the strike and depth extensions associated with the Lone Cow Pond 
mineralized zone. 
 
In addition, a systematic geochemical survey is planned that will consist of collecting soil and rock chip 
samples over the Goose Lake, George Lake, Boot Lake and Boulder Pond claim groups. The 
geochemical survey results will be incorporated with the recently completed geophysical survey data, the 
district structural interpretation and the geological mapping to generate additional diamond drill targets. 
 
The update of the Back River resource estimate is awaiting completion by RSG Global, and will include 
all drilling up to the end of the 2006 field season. 
 
Serbia 
 
DPM is currently the largest concession holder in Serbia with title to 14 exploration license agreements 
located within both the Cretaceous age Timok Magmatic Complex in Eastern Serbia and the Tertiary age 
Volcanic Complex that passes through Western and Southern Serbia. The geology of Serbia represents a 
continuation of the Cretaceous and Tertiary Arc systems that are found in Greece, Macedonia, Romania, 
Bulgaria, Ukraine, Turkey and Armenia and hosts significant copper and gold deposits and mining 
operations in the Bor region. The Company can maximize the value of its Serbian investments by 
capitalizing on synergies with its projects in Bulgaria through the use of modern and systematic 
exploration methodology. 
 
In April 2006, DPM and the Government of Serbia signed exploration and mining concession contracts for 
the Coka Kuruga, Coka Kupjatra and Tilva Njagra exploration and exploitation concessions (collectively 
known as the Crni Vrh concessions). These concessions are contiguous and are located approximately 
10 km west and northwest of the town of Bor, representing an area of 153 km2. The exploration 
concessions are granted for a three year period, renewable for an additional two years, and include 
mining rights which have been granted for 25 years. 
 
DPM has budgeted $17.8 million for the 2007 exploration program in Serbia. The exploration program will 
focus on further understanding the geological context of the Timok Magmatic Complex with the aim to 
define a gold/copper resource within the next two years. Exploration activities in the reporting period have 
focused on evaluating the Crni Vrh concessions and the Company’s exploration licenses in the Timok 
region of northeast Serbia. Work completed to date has included flying a detailed aeromagnetic and TEM 
heliborne geophysical survey over the Timok licenses. Further data processing and interpretation of this 
data is required. 
 
In addition, detailed geological mapping, trenching and surface geochemical surveys have been 
undertaken. A structural interpretation and synthesis of the Timok region is currently being carried out and 
the environmental baseline study has commenced.  
 
Drilling continues on the Crni Vrh concessions, initially targeting the multiple zones of hydrothermal 
alteration and testing previously reported mineralized intercepts generated by historical State-funded 
exploration programs. Further targets are expected to be generated as additional data becomes available 
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from geological mapping, prospecting, geochemical and geophysical surveys. Surface geophysical 
surveys commenced targeting zones of hydrothermal alteration during the period. 
 
Additionally, geological mapping, stream sediment sampling and follow-up surface geochemical surveys 
are ongoing on regional licenses located elsewhere in Serbia. 
 
Investment Activities 
 
As at December 31, 2006, the portfolio had a market value of approximately $189.5 million. The top three 
positions as at December 31, 2006, at market are: Goldbelt Resources Limited (“Goldbelt”) - $37.6 
million; IAMGOLD Corporation - $32.1 million; and Tahera Diamond Corporation - $19.7 million. The 
Company currently holds equity positions in excess of 10% in the following companies. 
 
• Adamus Resources Limited (“Adamus”) is a Perth-based emerging gold producer. Adamus’ main 

focus is on realizing the economic potential of the 90% owned Southern Ashanti Gold Project in 
Ghana, West Africa. 

• Cassidy Gold Corp. (“Cassidy”) is a gold exploration and development company with its principal 
asset being the 100% owned interest, subject to a 15% state participation, in the Kouroussa, 
Tambiko, and Siguiri gold concessions in Guinea, West Africa. Aggressive exploration is adding new 
zones of gold mineralization into the Kouroussa resource picture. 

• Crescent Gold Limited (“Crescent”) is an emerging Australian gold producer with its primary operation 
being Laverton Gold Project located in Western Australia. Crescent Gold is also exploring in Xinjiang 
and Inner Mongolia Provinces of Western China. 

• Frontier Pacific Mining Corporation (“Frontier Pacific”) is a mineral exploration and development 
company based in Vancouver, B.C. Frontier Pacific is focused on gold and uranium projects in Europe 
and the Americas with its primary asset being the Perama Hill gold project in Northeastern Greece 
which is in the advanced permitting stage. 

• Goldbelt is committed to becoming a significant and profitable mining company in West Africa by 
exploring and developing known gold prospects that will create long-life mines. Goldbelt is actively 
pursuing other mining opportunities in West Africa while continuing work on the Inata Project in the 
Belahouro License in Burkina Faso. 

  
DPM disposed of investments for gross proceeds of $38.2 million on which it realized a gain of $23.1 
million for the three months ended December 31, 2006, and invested $47.4 million in strategic 
investments. In 2006, DPM disposed of investments for gross proceeds of $111.1 million on which it 
realized a gain of $68.7 million and invested $61.3 million in strategic investments. During the year, $0.1 
million in investments were written down as management determined that the decline in value was other 
than temporary. 
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FINANCIAL RESULTS 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
The Company reported net earnings of $18.4 million or $0.34 per share ($0.33 per share on a diluted 
basis) and for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2006 compared to net earnings of $6.2 
million or $0.11 per share from sales of investments for the three months ended December 31, 2005. For 
the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company reported net earnings of $69.7 million or $1.29 per 
share ($1.26 per share on a diluted basis) compared to net earnings reported in 2005 of $19.9 million or 
$0.37 per share. The increase in net income was attributed to increases in operating income from mine 
operations, primarily as a result of increased metal prices and significant gains on the sale of 
investments. 
 
Condensed Income Statement 
 Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended 
Cdn$ millions,  
except per share amounts 

December 31, 
2006

December 31, 
2005

December 31, 
2006 

December 31, 
2005

Revenue from mining operations      
Gold/copper concentrate $ 32.9 $ 33.1 $ 110.9 $ 63.2
Cost of sales 20.4 18.2  50.7 45.6

Gross profit from mining operations $ 12.5 $ 14.9 $ 60.2 $ 17.6
Net investment income (loss) 22.8 (3.2)  64.9 23.9
Net earnings before undernoted $ 35.3 $ 11.7 $ 125.1 $ 41.5
Expenses  13.4 7.5   41.4 20.0
Income tax expense (recovery) 3.5 (2.0)  14.0 1.6
Net earnings $  18.4 $ 6.2 $  69.7 $ 19.9
         

Net earnings per share      
- basic $  0.34 $ 0.11 $  1.29 $ 0.37
- fully diluted $ 0.33 $ 0.11 $ 1.26 $ 0.37

 
Net Earnings Before Expenses, Non-controlling Interest and Income Tax 
 
Net earnings before expenses, non-controlling interest and income tax of $35.3 million for the three months 
ended December 31, 2006, compared with $11.7 million for the three months ended December 31, 2005. 
On an annual basis, net earnings before expenses, non-controlling interests and income taxes were 
$125.1 million compared to $41.5 million in 2005 resulted from the following: 
 
(1) mining operations for the three months ending December 31, 2006 had a gross operating profit of 

$12.5 million on the sale of 25,602 dry tonnes of gold/copper concentrate, compared with a profit of 
$14.9 million on the sale of 32,580 dry tonnes, reported during the same period in 2005. Mining 
operations in 2006, had a gross operating profit of $60.2 million on the sale of 66,239 dry tonnes of 
gold/copper concentrate, in comparison to the prior year’s gross operating profit of $17.6 million on 
the sale of 71,799 dry tonnes. Included in the operating profit is the sale of 1,300 dry tonnes of 
gold/copper concentrate and 1,702 dry tonnes of zinc concentrate from the recently acquired Kapan 
mine. There is no comparative amount for the prior year. The dramatic increase in profitability was 
primarily a result of the significantly higher metal prices as illustrated by the average prices for gold 
and copper in 2006 of US$584/oz (2005 - US$449/oz) and US$2.92/lb (2005 - US$1.69/lb), 
respectively; and 

(2) the financial results of the investment activities for the three months ending December 31, 2006 
contributed $22.8 million compared with a loss of $3.2 million in the same period last year. In 2006, 
investment activities contributed $64.9 million in comparison to $23.9 million in the prior year. 
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Expenses 
 
Administrative and Other Expenses 
 
Administrative costs were $4.7 million for the three months ended December 31, 2006, compared to $3.2 
million for the three month period ending on the same day last year. In 2006, administrative costs were 
$15.1 million compared to $8.3 million in the prior year. The increase over the prior year is due to 
continued systems and personnel development to support a new and rapidly growing international mining 
company, and an increase in business development activities undertaken during the period. Professional 
fees relating to the further development of internal controls, various permitting matters, and licensing and 
tender issues in Bulgaria have also contributed to this increase. 
 
Exploration Expense 
 
Exploration costs incurred for the three months ended December 31, 2006 were $6.0 million, compared to 
$1.5 million in the comparative period of 2005. Exploration costs incurred during 2006 were $14.9 million 
compared to $4.5 million during the prior year. Exploration costs during the last quarter of $4.9 million 
were incurred in Serbia ($11.2 million on a year-to-date basis) and $1.2 million in Bulgaria ($3.7 million on 
a year-to-date basis). DPM expenses all early stage exploration costs until the date it can be established 
that a property has mineral resources which have the potential of being economically recoverable. The 
level of exploration activity during the third and fourth quarters of 2006 has increased significantly in 
Serbia and is in line with the Company’s expectations. 
 
Stock Based Compensation Expense 
 
Stock based compensation expense includes costs associated with granting stock options and costs 
related to the Company’s Employee and Director Deferred Share Unit (“DSU”) Plans. The value of the 
stock options granted was $1.0 million for the three months ended December 31, 2006, calculated using 
a Black-Scholes model. The value of stock options granted in 2006 was $2.9 million, calculated using a 
Black-Scholes model. These costs are charged to operations over their three year vesting period. During 
the three months ended December 31, 2006, stock option expense was $1.9 million. Stock option 
expense for 2006 was $5.4 million. The DSU’s vest immediately and compensation expense is 
recognized at the time of grant. The outstanding liability is marked-to-market each quarter. During the 
quarter, $0.1 million was charged to compensation expense for the issuance of DSU’s and $0.3 million 
was charged to compensation expense representing the increase in the Company’s stock price over the 
quarter. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, $0.3 million relating to the issue of DSU’s and 
$0.6 million relating to the mark-to-market of the DSU’s were charged to compensation expense. 
 
Foreign Exchange 
 
Expenses include a charge relating to fluctuations in foreign currency rates against the Canadian dollar. 
The majority of monetary assets and liabilities related to the mining operations are not in Canadian 
dollars, hence fluctuations in the exchange rates result in gains and losses when translated to Canadian 
currency. The strengthening of the Canadian dollar against both the US dollar and the Euro in recent 
months has resulted in a $0.8 million foreign exchange loss in 2006. 
 
Cash Flow Summary 
 

 Three Months   Twelve MonthsCdn$ millions 
Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2006 2005

Cash provided by (used in)      
Operating activities $  (6.1) $ 27.0 $ 23.1 $ 18.8 
Property, plant and equipment (17.3) (12.7)  (120.3) (64.9)
Investment transactions, net (9.3) (1.5)  49.8 46.2 
Financing activities 0.4 0.2  1.9 7.6 

Increase (decrease) in cash $ (32.3) $ 13.0 $ (45.5) $ 7.7 
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Operating Activities 
 
For the three months ended December 31, 2006, the Company’s operating activities used cash of $6.1 
million compared to providing $27.0 million during the same period in the prior year. The Company’s 
operating activities provided cash of $23.1 million in 2006, compared to providing cash of $18.8 million in 
the prior year. 
 
The following is a breakdown of the major components affecting operating activities: 
 
  Three Months  Twelve Months 
Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2006 2005

Net earnings 
 

$  18.4 $   6.2
 

$  69.7 $  19.9
Gain on sale of investments (23.1) 1.0 (68.7) (33.8)
Amortization 3.2 1.6 9.1 5.9
Stock-based compensation 1.9 1.3 5.4 4.5
Writedown of investments to market value .- 6.0 0.1 13.7
Other non-cash charges 4.0 (4.3) 7.7 1.7
Increase (decrease) in accounts receivable (5.0) 2.7 (22.1) (4.7)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (7.5) (2.2) 26.1 1.2
Other non-cash working capital 2.0 14.7 (4.2) 10.4
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $  (6.1) $  27.0 $  23.1 $  18.8
 
Investing Activities 
 
Investing activities used $26.6 million in cash during the three months ending December 31, 2006. Net 
changes in investment portfolio activities used cash of $9.3 million during the three months ended December 
31, 2006, compared with consuming $1.5 million for the same period of 2005. Investing activities used $70.6 
million in cash during the twelve months ended December 31, 2006. Net changes in investment portfolio 
activities provided cash of $49.8 million in 2006 compared with providing $46.2 million in 2005. 
 
Capital expenditures on property, plant and equipment for the three months ended December 31, 2006 
totalled $17.3 million. Expenditures for the three months ended December 31, 2006 were comprised of: a) 
exploration and mine development ($4.5 million); b) property, plant and equipment ($12.7 million); and c) 
acquisition of Deno Gold ($0.1 million). In the three month periods ended December 31, 2005, the 
Company expended $12.7 million on plant and equipment. Capital expenses on property, plant and 
equipment for the year ended December 31, 2006 totalled $120.3 million and was comprised of : a) 
exploration and mine development of $44.7 million; b) property, plant and equipment of $41.7 million; c) 
property acquisition of $9.0 million; and d) acquisition of Deno Gold for $24.9 million. This is in 
comparison to $64.9 million expended on plant and equipment in 2005. The following tables provide 
details of the amounts: 
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Chelopech 
 
At Chelopech, $14.9 million (US$13.1 million) and $58.4 million (US$51.6 million) was spent during the 
three and twelve months ended December 31, 2006, respectively, and $114.5 million (US$97.8 million) 
has been spent on the property from the date of acquisition as follows: 
 
Chelopech Project Costs 

US$ millions 

Current 
Quarter 

Cost

Year- 
to-Date  

Cost 

Total Cost 
from Date of 

Acquisition
Project:  
Establishing reserves $ 0.5 $ 1.5 $ 6.1
Decline 1.2 3.7 10.2
Mine development 2.2 12.9 31.4
Mill development 0.3 2.5 5.0
Definitive feasibility study - 0.3 10.0
Oxygen plant 0.9 11.7 11.7
EPCM contractor 2.8 8.8 8.8
Other 5.2 10.2 14.6
Total $ 13.1 $ 51.6 $ 97.8
 
Kapan 
 
At Kapan, $2.6 million (US$2.3 million) and $3.2 million (US$2.9 million) was spent on the property during 
the three and four months ended December 31, 2006, respectively, as follows: 
 
Kapan Project Costs 

US$ millions 

Current 
Quarter 

Cost

Year- 
to-Date  

Cost 

Total Cost 
from Date of 

Acquisition
Project:  
Mine development $ 0.1 $ 0.3 $ 0.3
Geghanush TMF 1.5 1.8 1.8
Other 0.7 0.8 0.8
Total $ 2.3 $ 2.9 $ 2.9
 
Back River 
 
DPM acquired the option to earn a 60% interest in this advanced stage exploration property early in 2005 
for $9.1 million and, subsequently, a further $28.9 million was expended on exploration activities. On July 
25, 2006, DPM acquired a 100% interest in the Back River Project resulting in an additional $8.9 million in 
acquisition costs. 
 
Total 
 
As at December 31, 2006, the Company has capitalized the following costs: 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 

Cdn$ millions 
Acquisition 

Cost 
Project 

Cost 
Total 
Cost 

Back River (Nunavut, Canada) $ 18.0 $ 28.9  $ 46.9 
Chelopech (Bulgaria) 20.3 114.5 134.8
Krumovgrad (Bulgaria) 30.1 20.1 50.2
Serbia 0.1 6.8 6.9
Kapan (Armenia) 31.7 3.2  34.9 
Corporate - 1.6 1.6
Total $ 100.2 $ 175.1 $ 275.3
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Financing Activities 
 
In the three months ended December 31, 2006, the exercise of stock options provided $0.4 million. 
During the comparative period of 2005, financing activities provided $7.4 million from the exercise of 
stock options and debt financing proceeds offset by payments for the retirement of debt. For the year 
ended December 31, 2006, the exercise of stock options provided $1.9 million. During 2005, financing 
activities provided $7.6 million from the exercise of stock options and debt financing proceeds offset by 
payments for the retirement of debt. 
 
LIQUIDITY 
 
The Company has aggregate working capital of $40.7 million and marketable securities with a market 
value in excess of $189 million as at December 31, 2006.  
 
The Company has board approval to proceed with two development projects once the necessary 
regulatory approvals are received. The Chelopech expansion and redevelopment is expected to cost 
US$175 million and the Krumovgrad Gold Project is estimated to cost US$75 million. The ability to 
complete both development projects is dependent on the Company’s ability to raise sufficient funding. 
Preliminary discussions have been held with international financial institutions regarding debt financing of 
between US$150 - $175 million for both projects. The equity markets are also available for providing new 
funds for superior projects and are especially active in strong commodity cycles. 
 
The Company is planning an exploration program which is budgeted at $72.5 million for 2007, of which 
approximately $32.7 million is allocated for in mine or near mine exploration. It should be noted that the 
budget assumes that all of the various programs will be successful and require immediate follow up. 
Furthermore, a significant portion of expenditures are temporarily discretionary and can be deferred, if 
necessary, for a period of time. 
 
It is anticipated that these funds, in addition to funds generated from operations, will be sufficient to 
finance current mining and investment activities as well as the Company’s committed obligations in 2007. 
 
The Company has contractual obligations due within the next five years as follows: 
 
Contractual Obligations 
 Payments Due by Period 
Cdn$ thousands Total Up to 1 Year 1 - 3 Years 4 - 5 Years Over 5 years

Long-term debt $ 16,897 $ 4,225 $ 8,447 $ 4,225 $ -
Operating lease obligations  2,706 795 1,453 458 -
Purchase obligations  31,799 26,215 5,461 123 -
Other long-term obligations  2,253 37 2,150 31 35
Total contractual obligations $ 53,655 $ 31,272 $ 17,511 $ 4,837 $ 35
 
Included in the purchase obligations are $3.2 million in contracts relating to Kapan’s construction of a new 
TMF, $17.3 million relating to Chelopech’s engineering, procurement, and construction management 
purchase commitments, $7.4 million for site capital projects and $1.4 million relating to the oxygen plant. 
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QUARTERLY INFORMATION  
 

2006 2005 
 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
Gold/copper  

concentrate sales $32.9 $ 17.2 $ 41.1 $ 19.8 $ 33.1 $  7.7 $ 10.8 $ 11.6
Cost of sales 20.4 8.1 12.5 9.7 18.2 6.2 9.4 11.7
Gross profit (loss) 12.5  9.1 28.6 10.1 14.9 1.5 1.4 (0.1)
Net investment income (loss) 22.8  16.0  25.7 0.4 (3.2) 25.9 0.3 0.8
Net earnings before the 

undernoted 35.3 25.1  54.3 10.5 11.7 27.4 1.7 0.7
         
Expenses (13.4) (9.1)  (12.1) (6.7)  (7.5) (4.3) (5.8) (2.3)
Non-controlling interest - (0.1) - - - - - - 
Income tax recovery 

(expense) (3.5)  (2.5) (7.9) (0.1) 2.0 (4.1) 0.3 0.1
Net earnings (loss) $ 18.4  $ 13.4 $ 34.3 $  3.7 $  6.2 $ 19.0 $ (3.8) $ (1.5)

Net earnings (loss) per share 
- basic $ 0.34  $ 0.25 $ 0.64 $ 0.07 $ 0.11 $ 0.35 $ (0.07) $ (0.03)
- fully diluted $ 0.33  $ 0.24 $ 0.61   $ 0.07 $ 0.11 $ 0.35 $ (0.07) $ (0.03)

 
OUTLOOK AND CHALLENGES 
 
Outlook 
 
The Company continues to focus on filling the mining project pipeline. The critical objectives for the 
immediate future are to: 

  
• successfully complete the permitting processes in Bulgaria for both the Chelopech expansion and 

conversion to metal production, and for the development and operation of the Krumovgrad gold 
property, 

• prepare for orderly transition to metal production once permitting issues are resolved at 
Chelopech, 

• integrate and modernize the Kapan mine in Armenia and initiate a comprehensive exploration 
program to thoroughly evaluate the potential of this property, 

• continue the aggressive exploration of the Serbian concessions and the Back River property in 
Nunavut,  

• continue to pursue additional mining opportunities, either through corporate investments or direct 
property interests, and 

• secure the necessary funding for these activities, as required. 
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Challenges 
 
There are a number of significant challenges and uncertainties to be addressed:  
 
Political 
 
The majority of the Company’s operations are carried out in eastern Europe and Eurasia and, as such, 
the Company’s operations are exposed to various levels of political risks and uncertainties.  
 
Changes, if any, in mining or investment policies or shifts in political attitude in eastern Europe and 
Eurasia may adversely affect the Company’s operations or profitability. Operations may be affected in 
varying degrees by government regulations with respect to, but not limited to, restrictions on production, 
price controls, export controls, currency remittance, income taxes, expropriation of property, foreign 
investment, maintenance of claims, environmental legislation, land use, land claims of local people, water 
use and mine safety.  
 
Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and local practices relating to mineral right applications 
and tenure could result in loss, reduction or expropriation of entitlements. 
 
The occurrence of these various factors and uncertainties cannot be accurately predicted and could have 
an adverse effect on the Company’s operations or profitability. 
 
Project Approval, Development and Commissioning 
 
The Company’s operations and development activities are subject to receiving and maintaining permits 
from appropriate governmental authorities. Although the Company currently has all required permits for 
its operations, there is no assurance that delays will not occur in connection with obtaining all necessary 
renewals of such permits for the existing operations or additional permits for planned future changes to 
operations. Prior to any redevelopment of any of its properties, the Company must receive new permits 
from appropriate governmental authorities.  
 
Operating and Capital Costs 
 
As commodity prices continue to strengthen, mine exploration and development costs continue to 
increase and the availability of reliable sources of supply of qualified personnel and supplies at 
reasonable prices becomes more difficult. The Company used the most current pricing available in its 
DFS’s; however, continued delays will likely have a negative impact on the estimates of total costs. 
 
In addition, the cost of projects available for acquisition is increasing as the number of companies looking 
to expand through acquisition increases and the underlying commodity prices continue to strengthen. 
 
Concentrate Market 
 
Chelopech's high arsenic content continues to restrict opportunities to take advantage of smelter demand 
resulting in mine production having to be restrained until metal production becomes part of the mine's 
operations. The tightening market for Chelopech concentrate together with a continued delay in the 
approval of the Chelopech EIA and construction of the MPF will likely result in a temporary interruption in 
operations in 2008. 
 
Exploration 
 
Exploration is highly speculative in nature and exploration projects involve many risks that even a 
combination of careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not eliminate. Once a site with gold or 
other precious metal mineralization is discovered, it may take several years from the initial phases of 
drilling until production is possible. Substantial expenditures are normally required to locate and establish 
mineral reserves and to construct mining and processing facilities. While the discovery of an ore body 
may result in substantial rewards, few properties that are explored are ultimately developed into 
producing mines. 
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Financing 
 
The mining, processing, development and exploration of the Company’s properties may require 
substantial additional financing. Failure to obtain sufficient financing may result in delay or indefinite 
postponement of development on any or all of the Company’s properties or even a loss of property 
interest. There can be no assurance that additional capital or other types of financing will be available if 
needed or that, if available, the terms of such financing will be favourable to the Company. A decline in 
gold, copper or zinc prices could adversely affect the Company’s ability to obtain financing in the future. 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES  
 
Management is required to make estimates in preparation of its financial statements conforming with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). Critical accounting estimates represent 
estimates that are highly uncertain and could materially impact the financial statements. These estimates 
affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities as well as the revenues and expenses. Changes to 
these estimates may result in material changes to these line items. The critical accounting estimates 
made by the Company relate to the following items: 
 
Capitalization of Exploration Expenses 
 
Exploration expenses incurred to the date of establishing that a property has mineral resources, with the 
potential of being economically recoverable, are charged to operations. All subsequent exploration and 
development expenses are capitalized and amortization is deferred until the commencement of 
commercial production. The estimate of mineral resources is a complex process and requires significant 
assumptions and estimates regarding economic and geological data. Any revision to any of these 
estimates could result in the impairment of the capitalized exploration expenses. As a result, there could 
be a material impact on the asset balance. 
 
Asset Retirement Obligations 
 
Mining, development and exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing the 
protection of the environment. The Company has recorded a liability for future costs related to these 
regulations with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the related assets.  
 
Significant judgments and estimates are made when determining the nature and costs associated with 
asset retirement obligations. Changes in the underlying assumptions used to estimate the obligation as 
well as changes to environmental laws and regulations could cause material changes in the expected 
cost and the fair value of asset retirement obligations. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment represent 56% of total assets at December 31, 2006. As such, the 
application of the Company’s accounting policies for these assets has a material impact on the 
Company’s financial results. Property, plant and equipment and related capitalized expenditures are 
recorded at cost. Amortization expense is based on the estimated useful lives of these assets. The 
carrying values of mining properties and property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 
Impairment assessments are based on estimates of future cash flows, which include: the quantity of 
mineral reserves; future metal prices and future operating and capital costs to mine and process the 
Company’s reserves. The variability of these factors depends on a number of conditions, including the 
uncertainty of future events, and as a result, accounting estimates may change from one period to 
another. Asset balances could be materially impacted if other assumptions and estimates had been used. 
In addition, future operating results could be impacted if different assumptions and estimates are applied 
in future periods. 
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Income Taxes 
 
In determining both the current and future components of income taxes, the Company interprets tax 
legislation in a variety of jurisdictions as well as makes assumptions as to the expected time of the 
reversal of future tax assets and liabilities. If the interpretations or assumptions differ from the tax 
authorities or if the timing of the reversal is not properly anticipated, the provision for or relief of taxes 
could increase or decrease in future periods. 
 
Investments 
 
Investments represent 24% of total assets at December 31, 2006. As such, the application of the 
Company’s accounting policies for these assets has a material effect on the Company’s financial results. 
Investments are recorded at cost. Investments in which the Company has significant influence, but does 
not control, are accounted for using the equity method. Investments are reviewed for impairment based 
on the market values of the securities. When the loss on investment is considered other than temporary, 
the investment is written down to recognize the loss. The volatility of the market values can cause 
accounting estimates to change from one period to the next. As a result, balances could be materially 
impacted. 
 
ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS 
 
Financial Instruments, Comprehensive Income and Hedges 
 
In January 2005, the CICA issued Handbook Sections 3855, “Financial Instruments – Recognition and 
Measurement”, 1530, “Comprehensive Income”, and 3865, “Hedges”. These new standards are effective 
for interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years commencing on or after October 1, 
2006 on a prospective basis. The Company will adopt these new standards effective January 1, 2007. 
 
Other comprehensive income, a new location for recognizing certain gains and losses, has been 
introduced. This will allow for certain gains and losses arising from changes in fair value to be temporarily 
recorded outside the income statement, but in a transparent manner. Existing requirements for hedge 
accounting have been expanded, and in most cases, all financial instruments are to be recorded on the 
balance sheet at fair value. The Company is currently assessing the impact of these new standards, 
however, the impact is not yet determinable as it is highly dependent on fair values at the time of 
adoption. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT   
 

 
In addition to the challenges mentioned above, there are several other risks the Company must face. 
 
Metal Prices and Currencies 
 
Gold, zinc and copper prices have continued to remain at levels well above historic averages. With the 
strengthening of commodity prices, there is continuing concern about inflationary pressure leading to 
increases in interest rates, which may lead to a slowing of economic growth. It is currently the Company’s 
policy not to hedge gold prices. There were no hedges in place at December 31, 2006. However, in the 
second quarter of 2006, the Company acquired copper put options on 11,825 mt covering the period from 
October 2006 to December 2007. These financial instruments represent an option, but not an obligation, 
to sell copper at US$2.50 per pound. The put options were purchased in an effort to protect the Company 
against the potential decline in the value of copper. As the price of copper declines, the value of the 
unexpired put options increases. 
 
Revenue from mine production of gold, copper and zinc is priced in US dollars. The majority of operating 
and capital expenditures are Euro based or US dollar based. Both the US dollar and the Euro continue to 
depreciate against the Canadian currency as commodity prices increase. 
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The Company’s investment income is denominated primarily in Canadian dollars as most of the 
investments trade on the TSX and the majority of cash balances are in Canadian currency. 
 
The demand for copper and zinc metals continues to be strong. A combination of consumer demand, 
particularly from Asia, low inventories, a number of producer technical and grade difficulties and 
continued institutional buying has caused both the copper and zinc prices to continue to trade at a 
significant premium to historic average levels. Short term buyer interest has resulted in continued 
volatilities in the forward markets. 
 
In the copper concentrate market, smelters are actively looking for additional supply of clean concentrate, 
as a result of having completed openings and expansions of their facilities. Smelters, particularly those in 
Asia, were reluctant to accept lower spot treatment and refining charges demanded by the suppliers 
(mines and traders). However, towards the end of 2006, spot prices started to fall in line with contract 
settlement negotiations for 2007 sales. The market settlement terms for 2007 that have been reported 
show a significant swing in favour of the supply side with treatment and refining charges reduced by 
roughly 30% and in many instances the removal of copper price participation clauses which provide 
additional earnings for the smelters. Chelopech’s unique high arsenic content and fixed terms for the 
majority of 2007 contracted sales results in limited opportunity to benefit from the downward trend in 
smelter deductions. 
 
Declining commodity prices can impact operations by requiring a reassessment of the feasibility of a 
particular project. Even if the project is ultimately determined to be economically viable, the need to 
conduct such a reassessment may cause substantial delays or may interrupt operations until the 
reassessment can be completed. 
 
The price of the common shares, the Company’s financial results and exploration, development and 
mining activities could be significantly and adversely affected by declines in the price of gold, silver and 
copper. Gold, silver and copper prices fluctuate widely and are affected by numerous factors beyond the 
Company’s control such as the sale or purchase of gold and silver by various central banks and financial 
institutions, interest rates, exchange rates, inflation or deflation, fluctuation in the value of the US dollar 
and foreign currencies, global and regional supply and demand, and the political and economic conditions 
of major gold, silver and copper-producing countries throughout the world. Depending on the price of 
gold, silver and copper, cash flow from mining operations may not be sufficient and the Company could 
be forced to discontinue production and may lose its interest in, or may be forced to sell, some of its 
properties. Future production from the Company’s mining properties is dependent on gold, silver and 
copper prices that are adequate to make these properties economic. 
 
Political 
 
The majority of the Company’s operations are currently conducted in Eastern Europe and Eurasia and as 
such, the Company’s operations are exposed to various levels of political, economic and other risks and 
uncertainties. These risks and uncertainties vary from country to country and include, but are not limited 
to, terrorism; hostage taking; military repression; extreme fluctuations in currency exchange rates; high 
rates of inflation; labour unrest; the risks of war or civil unrest; expropriation and nationalization; 
renegotiation or nullification of existing concessions, licenses, permits and contracts; illegal mining; 
changes in taxation policies; restrictions on foreign exchange and repatriation; changing political 
conditions; currency controls; and governmental regulations that favour or require the awarding of 
contracts to local contractors or require foreign contractors to employ citizens of, or purchase supplies 
from, a particular jurisdiction.  
 
Changes, if any, in mining or investment policies or shifts in political attitude in Eastern Europe and 
Eurasia may adversely affect the Company’s operations or profitability. Operations may be affected in 
varying degrees by government regulations with respect to, but not limited to, restrictions on production, 
price controls, export controls, currency remittance, income taxes, expropriation of property, foreign 
investment, maintenance of claims, environmental legislation, land use, land claims of local people, water 
use and mine safety. 
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Failure to comply strictly with applicable laws, regulations and local practices relating to mineral right 
applications and tenure, could result in loss, reduction or expropriation of entitlements, or the imposition 
of additional local or foreign parties as joint venture partners with carried or other interests. 
 
The occurrence of these various factors and uncertainties cannot be accurately predicted and could have 
an adverse effect on the Company’s operations or profitability. 
 
Foreign Currency 
 
Exchange rate fluctuations may affect the capital costs that the Company incurs in its operations. Gold, 
silver and copper are sold in US dollars and the Company’s costs are incurred principally in Canadian 
dollars and Bulgarian leva, which is currently fixed to the Euro. The appreciation of non-US dollar 
currencies against the US dollar can increase the cost of gold, silver and copper production in US dollar 
terms. The Company monitors these currencies but has not entered into derivative instruments to hedge 
against this risk. 
 
Credit 
 
The Company is subject to credit risk from its customers; however, it receives a provisional payment on 
all sales at the time title of the concentrate transfers from many of its customers. For the majority of 
contracted sales, provisional payments are between 90% and 95% of the contract based on provisional 
metal prices and assay results. The Company monitors this risk and does not consider the likelihood of a 
material loss to be significant. 
 
Operations 
 
Mining operations generally involve a high degree of risk. The Company’s operations are subject to all the 
hazards and risks normally encountered in the exploration, development and production of gold, silver 
and copper, including unusual and unexpected geologic formations, seismic activity, rock bursts, cave-
ins, flooding and other conditions involved in the drilling and removal of material, any of which could result 
in damage to, or destruction of, mines and other producing facilities, damage to life or property, 
environmental damage and possible legal liability. Although adequate precautions to minimize risk will be 
taken, milling operations are subject to hazards such as equipment failure or failure of retaining dams 
around tailings disposal areas which may result in environmental pollution and consequent liability. 
 
Success of the Company’s operations also depends on adequate infrastructure. Reliable roads, bridges, 
power sources and water supply are important determinants, which affect capital and operating costs. 
Unusual or infrequent weather phenomena, sabotage, government or other interference in the 
maintenance or provision of such infrastructure could adversely affect the Company’s operations, 
financial condition and results of operations. 
 
Insurance 
 
The Company’s business is subject to a number of other risks and hazards, including adverse 
environmental conditions, industrial accidents, labour disputes, unusual or unexpected geological 
conditions, ground or slope failures, cave-ins, changes in the regulatory environment, and natural 
phenomena such as inclement weather conditions, floods, hurricanes and earthquakes. Such 
occurrences could result in damage to mineral properties or production facilities, personal injury or death, 
environmental damage to the Company’s properties or the properties of others, delays in mining, 
monetary losses and possible legal liability. 
 
Although the Company maintains insurance to protect against certain risks in such amounts as it 
considers to be reasonable, its insurance will not cover all the potential risks associated with a mining 
company’s operations. The Company may also be unable to maintain insurance to cover these risks at 
economically feasible premiums. Insurance coverage may not continue to be available or may not be 
adequate to cover any resulting liability. Moreover, insurance against risks such as environmental 
pollution or other hazards as a result of exploration and production is not generally available to the 
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Company or to other companies in the mining industry on acceptable terms. The Company might also 
become subject to liability for pollution or other hazards which may not be insured against or which the 
Company may elect not to insure against because of premium costs or other reasons. Losses from these 
events may cause the Company to incur significant costs that could have a material adverse effect upon 
its financial performance and results of operations. 
 
Diversification 
 
The business activities of issuers in the resource industry (“Resource Issuers”) are speculative and may 
be adversely affected by factors outside the control of those issuers. Resource Issuers may not hold or 
discover commercial quantities of precious metals or minerals and their profitability may be affected by 
adverse fluctuations in commodity prices, demand for commodities, general economic conditions and 
cycles, unanticipated depletion of reserves or resources, native land claims, liability for environmental 
damage, competition, imposition of tariffs, duties or other taxes and government regulation, as applicable. 
Because the Company has and may continue to invest primarily in securities issued by Resource Issuers 
engaged in the mining industry or related resource businesses (including junior issuers), the value of the 
Company’s investment portfolio of securities may be more volatile than portfolios with a more diversified 
investment focus. Also, the value of the Company’s investment portfolio of securities may fluctuate with 
underlying market prices for commodities produced by those sectors of the economy. 
 
Government Laws and Regulations 
 
The activities of the Company are subject to various laws governing prospecting, development, 
production, taxes, labour standards and occupational health, mine safety, toxic substances, land use, 
water use, land claims of local people and other matters. Although the Company currently carries out its 
operations in accordance with all applicable rules and regulations, no assurance can be given that new 
rules and regulations will not be enacted or that existing rules and regulations will not be applied in a 
manner which could limit or curtail production or development. Amendments to current laws and 
regulations governing operations and activities of mining and milling or more stringent implementation 
thereof could cause costs and delays that would have a substantial adverse impact on the Company. 
 
Development Projects 
 
The Company’s ability to sustain or increase the present levels of production is dependent in part on the 
successful development of new ore bodies and/or expansion of existing mining operations. The 
commercial viability of development projects is based on many factors, including: the particular attributes 
of the deposit, such as size, grade and proximity to infrastructure; metal prices, which are highly cyclical; 
government regulations; capital and operating costs of such projects; and foreign currency exchange 
rates. Development projects are also subject to the successful completion of feasibility studies, issuance 
of necessary governmental permits and the acquisition of satisfactory surface or other land rights. The 
exact effect of these factors cannot be accurately predicted, but the combination of these factors may 
result in the Company not receiving an adequate return on invested capital. 
 
Production and Operating Costs 
 
The Company prepares estimates of future production and total cash costs of production for its 
operations. Many unforeseen factors both related and unrelated to the project such as the raw cost of 
inputs, regulatory factors, foreign exchange fluctuations, adverse environmental conditions, natural 
phenomena, and industrial accidents, can impact the accuracy of these projections. As such, no 
assurance can be given that production cost estimates will be achieved. Failure to achieve production or 
total cash cost estimates could have an adverse impact on future cash flows, earnings and financial 
condition. 
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Reserves 
 
The figures for mineral resources contained herein are estimates only and no assurance can be given 
that the anticipated tonnages and grades will be achieved or that the indicated level of recovery will be 
realized. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating mineral resources, including many 
factors beyond the Company’s control. Such estimation is a subjective process, and the accuracy of any 
resource estimate is a function of the quantity and quality of available data and of the assumptions made 
and judgments used in engineering and geological interpretation. Short-term operating factors, such as 
the need for orderly development of the ore bodies or the processing of new or different ore grades, may 
cause the mining operation to be unprofitable in any particular accounting period. In addition, there can 
be no assurance that gold, silver or copper recoveries in small scale laboratory tests will be duplicated in 
larger scale tests under on-site conditions or during production. 
 
Fluctuation in gold, silver or copper prices, results of drilling, metallurgical testing and production and the 
evaluation of mine plans subsequent to the date of any estimate may require revision of such estimate. 
The volume and grade of reserves mined and processed and recovery rates may not be the same as 
currently anticipated. Any material reductions in estimates of mineral resources could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations and financial condition. 
 
Environmental Risks and Hazards 
 
All phases of the Company’s operations are subject to environmental regulation in the various 
jurisdictions in which it operates. These regulations mandate, among other things, the maintenance of air 
and water quality standards and land reclamation. They also set fourth limitations on the generation, 
transportation, storage and disposal of solid and hazardous waste. Environmental legislation is evolving 
in a manner which will require stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-
compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of 
responsibility for companies and their officers, directors and employees. There is no assurance that future 
changes in environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect the Company’s operations. 
Environmental hazards may exist on the properties on which the Company holds interests which are 
unknown to the Company at present and which have been caused by previous or existing owners or 
operators of the properties.  
 
Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in enforcement 
actions thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing operations to 
cease or be curtailed, and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of 
additional equipment, or remedial actions. Parties engaged in mining operations or in the exploration or 
development of mineral properties may be required to compensate those suffering loss or damage by 
reason of the mining activities and may have civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed for violations of 
applicable laws or regulations. 
 
Amendments to current laws, regulations and permits governing operations and activities of mining and 
exploration companies, or more stringent implementation thereof, could have a material adverse impact 
on the Company and cause increases in exploration expenses, capital expenditures or production costs 
or reduction in levels of production at producing properties or require abandonment or delays in 
development of new mining properties. 
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DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
 
Requirements of MI 52-109 include conducting an evaluation of the effectiveness of disclosure controls 
and procedures. Management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the disclosure controls 
and procedures in place as of December 31, 2006 and concluded that such procedures are adequate and 
effective to ensure accurate and complete disclosures in annual filings. The Board of Directors assesses 
the integrity of the public financial disclosures through the oversight of the Audit Committee. 
 
Internal Control Changes 
 
During 2006, the Company completed a detailed evaluation of the design effectiveness of Internal 
Controls over Financial Reporting using the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (“COSO”) framework. This exercise resulted in improvements being made to strengthen the 
portfolio of internal controls in all significant locations. Additional improvements will be made in 2007 to 
further enhance Internal Controls over Financial Reporting. 
 
GLOSSARY OF KEY TERMS 
 
 

Units of Measure Abbreviations 
  

a annum 
Ag silver 
Au gold 
Cu copper 
dmt dry metric tonnes 
Eq equivalent 
g grams 
g/t grams per tonne 
km kilometres 
kt thousands of tonnes 
lbs pounds 
m metres 
mt millions of tonnes 
oz ounces 
t tonnes 
 

 

Abbreviations 
  

CIL carbon in leach 
DFS definitive feasibility study 
DSU deferred share unit 
EBRD 
 

European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development 

EIA environmental impact assessment 
LME London Metal Exchange 
MoEW 
 

Ministry of the Environment and 
Waters 

MPF metals production facility 
POX pressure oxidation technology 
SAG semi autogenous grinding 
SX/EW solvent extraction and electrowinning 
TMF tailings management facility 
 
 
 

OTHER 
 
The financial information has been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP and is reported in 
Canadian dollars. Additional Company information, including the Company’s most recent Annual Report 
and Annual Information Form, can be accessed through the System for Electronic Document Analysis 
and Retrieval (“SEDAR”) website at www.sedar.com and the Company website at 
www.dundeeprecious.com. Certain non-GAAP measures are discussed in this MD&A which are clearly 
disclosed as such. 
 
Certain statements included in this MD&A and the accompanying financial statements are forward-looking 
statements. Forward-looking statements are frequently characterized by words such as “plan,” “expect,” 
“project,” “intend,” “believe,” “anticipate” and other similar words, or statements that certain events or conditions 
“may” or “will” occur. Forward-looking statements are based on the opinions and estimates of management at 
the date the statements are made, and are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties and other factors that 
could cause actual events or results to differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements. 
These factors include the inherent risks involved in the exploration and development of mineral properties, the 
uncertainties involved in interpreting drilling results and other geological data, fluctuating metal prices and other 
factors described above and in the Company’s most recent Annual Information Form under the heading “Risk 
Factors” which has been filed electronically by means of the Canadian Securities Administrators’ website 
located at www.sedar.com. The Company disclaims any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking 
statements if circumstances or management’s estimates or opinions should change. The reader is cautioned 
not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. 
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DUNDEE PRECIOUS METALS INC.  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
As at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
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As at December 31, 2006 2005

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 31,993$            77,541$         
Accounts receivable and other assets (note 4) 37,210             15,143          
Inventories (note 5) 17,097             12,051           

Total current assets 86,300               104,735         

Investments (market value-$189,527; 
December 2005-$184,690) (note 6) 109,355           91,467           

Other long-term assets (note 7) 2,221               1,204             
Property, plant & equipment (note 8) 251,962           134,241         
Future income tax asset (note 12) 5,016               6,262             
Total assets 454,854$           337,909$       

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 35,129$            13,320$         
Deferred revenue 6,246               -                     
Current portion of long-term debt (note 9) 4,225               -                     
Current portion of other long-term liabilities (note 10) 21                     448                

Total current liabilities 45,621               13,768           

Long-Term Liabilities
Long-term debt (note 9) 12,672             11,630           
Reclamation and other long-term liabilities (note 10) 12,567             9,649             
Long-term compensation (note 13) 5,034               4,109             
Future income tax liability (note 12) 11,647             6,572             

Total long-term liabilities 41,920               31,960           

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital (note 14a) 193,307           190,666         
Contributed surplus (note 14b) 7,019               4,260             
Retained earnings 166,987           97,255           

Total shareholders' equity 367,313             292,181         
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 454,854$           337,909$       

Contingent liabilities and commitments (note 11)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.  
 



DUNDEE PRECIOUS METALS INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS 
As at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
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For the years ended December 31, 2006 2005
Mining operations

Gold/copper/zinc concentrate revenue 110,935$          63,234$         
Cost of sales 50,689             45,583           

Gross profit 60,246               17,651           

Investment income
Dividends, interest and other income 479                   3,821             
Net realized gain on sale of investments 68,682             33,751           
Loss on copper puts (4,229)             -                     
Impaired investments written down to market (73)                   (13,720)          

Gross investment income 64,859               23,852           
Earnings before undernoted items 125,105             41,503           

Expenses
Administrative and other expenses 15,115             8,260             
Stock based compensation expense 5,395               4,492             
Exploration expense 14,864             4,460             
Amortization of property, plant and equipment 2,329               694                
Financing and other costs 2,869               2,167             
Foreign exchange loss (gain) 793                   (109)               

Total expenses 41,365               19,964           

Earnings before income taxes 83,740               21,539           

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes (note 12)
Current 11,292             (1,064)            
Future 2,716               2,713             

Total provision for income taxes 14,008               1,649             

Net earnings for the period 69,732$             19,890$         

Basic net earnings per share (note 15) 1.29$                 0.37$             
Diluted net earnings per share (note 15) 1.26$                 0.37$              

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RETAINED EARNINGS 
For the years ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 

For the years ended December 31, 2006 2005
Balance at beginning of period 97,255$             77,365$         

Net earnings 69,732             19,890           
Balance at end of period 166,987$           97,255$         

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
 

 



DUNDEE PRECIOUS METALS INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW 
For the years ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
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For the years ended December 31, 2006 2005

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net earnings for the period 69,732$            19,890$         
Non-cash charges (credits) to earnings

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 9,127               5,901             
Stock based compensation expense 5,395               4,492             
Repurchase of stock options (950)                -                     
Gain on sale of investments (68,682)           (33,751)          
Write down of investments to market value 73                     13,720           
Future income taxes 2,716               2,713             
Loss on copper puts 4,229               -                     
Other non-cash charges (credits) 1,706               (1,009)            

Changes in non-cash working capital
Increase in accounts receivable and other assets (22,062)           (4,719)            
Increase in inventories (2,982)             (283)               
Decrease (increase) in other long-term assets (1,017)             11,262           
Increase in accounts payable 26,056             1,152             
Decrease in other liabilities (202)                (566)               

Net cash provided by operating activities 23,139               18,802           

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investments (61,313)           (22,778)          
Proceeds on sale of investments 111,118           68,982           
Acquisition of company, net of cash acquired of $523 (note 3) (24,950)           -                     
Acquisition of mineral properties (8,950)             (16,819)          
Exploration and development costs capitalized (44,758)           (28,179)          
Acquisition of plant and equipment (41,714)           (19,926)          

Net cash used in investing activities (70,567)             (18,720)          

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issue of common shares 1,880               695                
Proceeds of debt financing -                       11,706           
Debt retired -                       (4,770)            

Net cash provided by financing activities 1,880                 7,631             

Increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents (45,548)           7,713             
Cash and equivalents at beginning of period 77,541             69,828           

Cash and equivalents at end of period 31,993$            77,541$        

Supplemental Disclosures
Interest paid (received) 1,351$              (1,846)$          
Taxes paid (received) 1,447$              (15,284)$        

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.



DUNDEE PRECIOUS METALS INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2006 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 

 
Dundee Precious Metals Inc. (“DPM” or the “Company”) is a Canadian based international mining 
company engaged in the acquisition, exploration, development and mining of precious metals. In 
Bulgaria, the Company currently owns an operating underground gold/copper mine (“Chelopech”) 
which is being expanded and is in the process of obtaining regulatory approval for the expansion and 
conversion of its processing facilities from concentrate to metal production; and a feasibility stage 
gold project (“Krumovgrad Gold Project”) which is awaiting regulatory approval for construction and 
operation. In the Company's view, these approvals have been unreasonably withheld and DPM has 
applied to the Bulgarian Courts to insist that the requisite approvals be granted. Failure to secure the 
approvals would delay the planned mine expansion activities at Chelopech and likely lead to a 
temporary suspension of production for at least part of 2008. Failure to receive required permits for 
the development of the Krumovgrad Gold Project would cancel all development of the property and 
the Company would be forced to seek compensation from the government of Bulgaria. DPM 
continues to believe it will be successful in obtaining the required permits. 
 
In addition, DPM holds a number of active exploration properties in the Central and Eastern 
Rhodope regions of the Balkans and in Nunavut in the Canadian Arctic (the “Back River Project”). 
The Company also owns 80% of Vatrin Investment Limited (“Vatrin”), a private company which holds 
100% of Deno Gold Mining Company (“Deno”), its principal asset being the Kapan Mining Project 
(“Kapan”), a gold, copper, and zinc concentrate producer in Southern Armenia. 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The principal accounting policies 
followed by the Company are summarized hereunder. 
 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

 
a) Consolidation 

 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars and are prepared in 
accordance with Canadian GAAP. The consolidated financial statements consolidate the assets, 
liabilities and results of all entities in which the Company holds a controlling financial interest. 
The Company defines a controlling financial interest as ownership of a majority voting interest of 
the entity. The effects of all transactions between controlled entities are eliminated. Where 
control of an entity is obtained during a financial year, its results are included in the consolidated 
statement of loss and deficit from the date on which control commences. Where control of an 
entity ceases during a financial year, its results are only included for the portion of the year over 
which control exists. 

 
b) Use of Estimates 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. The most 
significant estimates relate to the carrying values of inventories, receivables, investments, capital 
assets, amortization and depletion rates, asset retirement obligations, future income tax assets 
and liabilities, and the valuation of copper puts and stock based compensation. Actual results 
could differ from these estimates. 
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c) Foreign Currency Translation 
 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian 
dollars at the period end exchange rates, whereas non-monetary assets and liabilities and 
related expenses denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate in effect 
at the transaction date. Income and expense items are translated at the exchange rate in effect 
on the date of the transaction. Exchange gains and losses resulting from the translation of these 
amounts are included in the consolidated statement of earnings.  
 

d) Accounting Developments 
 

Financial Instruments, Comprehensive Income and Hedges 

In January 2005, the CICA issued Handbook Sections 3855, “Financial Instruments – 
Recognition and Measurement”, 1530, “Comprehensive Income”, and 3865, “Hedges”. These 
new standards are effective for interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years 
commencing on or after October 1, 2006 on a prospective basis. The Company will adopt these 
new standards effective January 1, 2007. 
 
The Company is currently assessing the impact of these new standards on its consolidated 
financial statements, however, the impact is not yet determinable as it is highly dependent on fair 
values at the time of adoption. 

 
e) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents include bank balances and short-term investments in money market 
instruments with original maturities of less than three months and are carried at the lower of cost 
and fair market value. 
 

f) Financial Instruments and Commodities Contracts 
 
The Company uses put option contracts to manage the effect of price changes on a portion of 
the metals sold by the Company. These derivative contracts, which represent a right but not an 
obligation to sell, are not designated as hedges and are initially recorded on the balance sheet at 
cost. Subsequent gains and losses arising from changes in market value on these contracts are 
charged or credited to earnings in the period in which they occur. 
 

g) Inventories 
 
Inventories of gold/copper/zinc concentrate are valued at the lower of average production cost 
and net realizable value. Production costs include the costs directly related to bringing the 
inventory to its current condition and location, such as materials, labour, mine site overheads 
and related amortization and depreciation of the mining and processing facilities. Costs also 
include the royalty payable on the value of the ore extracted from the mine. 
 
Supplies inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net replacement cost.  
 

h) Valuation of Investments 
 

Investments are recorded at historical cost and are evaluated for impairment based on the 
market values and consideration of the current circumstances affecting the companies in DPM’s 
investment portfolio. Market values are determined based on the period end closing prices 
reported on recognized securities exchanges and over-the-counter markets. When there has 
been a loss in value of an investment that is determined to be other than a temporary decline, 
the investment is written down to recognize the loss. 
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The average cost basis is used to determine the gain or loss on sales of investments. Gains and 
losses realized on sales are recorded in the statement of earnings in the period in which they occur. 
 
Dividend income is recognized on the ex-dividend date. Interest income and expenses are 
recognized on an accrual basis.  
 
Investments in which the Company exercises significant influence but does not control are 
accounted for using the equity method. All other investments are stated at cost. 
 

 

i) Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Mining interests, exploration and development costs 
 
Payments made for the acquisition of land and mineral rights are capitalized. Exploration 
expenses incurred to the date of establishing that a property has mineral resources, which have 
the potential of being economically recoverable, are charged to earnings; exploration and 
development expenses incurred subsequent to this date are allocated to mining properties. Upon 
commencement of commercial production, all related capital expenditures for any given mineral 
interest are amortized over the estimated economic life of the property. If a property is 
abandoned, or deemed economically unfeasible, the related project balances are written off.  

 
Amortization rates for these assets are as follows: 

 

 Deferred exploration and development – life of mine; and 
 Licenses and other mining rights – lesser of life of mine and economic life. 
 
Property, plant and mine equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment used in the mining business are recorded at cost. The 
amortization of mine infrastructure is based on the units-of-production method over the 
estimated economic life of the related deposit. Where the anticipated useful lives of the 
buildings, machinery and equipment related to mines are less than the life of the deposit, 
amortization is based on their remaining anticipated useful lives. Reviews for impairment of the 
producing property and properties under development are conducted annually. The carrying 
values of property, plant and equipment, which are not assessed as economically viable, are 
written down to their estimated fair value. 
 

j) Asset Retirement Obligations 
 

 Obligations associated with site restoration on the retirement of assets with determinable useful 
lives are recognized when they are incurred, which is typically at the time the assets are 
installed. These obligations are measured at fair value, based on the net present value of the 
estimated future costs, and a corresponding amount equal to that of the obligation is added to 
the capitalized cost of the related asset. The amount of liability will be subject to periodic re-
measurements. Any adjustment to this liability will impact the related asset. Over time, the 
discounted asset retirement obligation amount will be accreted for the change in its present 
value, and the accretion is expensed in the related period. The capitalized costs are amortized 
over the useful lives of the related assets. Other environmental and ongoing site reclamation 
costs incurred at the operating sites are charged to earnings when the costs are incurred. 

 
Due to uncertainties concerning environmental remediation, the ultimate cost to the Company of 
future site restoration could differ from the amounts provided. The estimate of the total liability for 
future site restoration costs is subject to change due to amendments to applicable laws and 
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regulations and as new information concerning the Company’s operations becomes available. 
The Company is not able to determine the impact on its financial position, if any, of 
environmental laws and regulations that may be enacted in the future due to the uncertainty 
surrounding the form and substance that these laws and regulations may take. 

 
k) Revenue Recognition 

 
 Revenue from the sale of gold/copper/zinc concentrate is recognized when significant risks and 

ownership title are transferred to the buyer. Under the terms of certain sales contracts the final 
gold, copper, zinc and silver prices are set based on spot market metal prices on a specified 
future date after the shipment date. Revenue is recorded based on forward market prices 
prevailing at the time of shipment (“provisional price”). The terms of the contracts result in non-
hedge derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment because of the difference 
between the provisional price and the final settlement price. These embedded derivatives, if 
material, are adjusted to fair value through revenue each period until the date of final price 
determination.  

 
Any adjustments to the amount receivable for each shipment at the settlement date, caused by 
final assay results, are adjusted through revenue at the time of determination. 

 
l) Stock Based Compensation  

 
 The Company accounts for stock options using the fair value method. For option awards, fair 

value is measured at the grant date using a Black-Scholes valuation model and is recognized as 
a charge to compensation expense and an increase in contributed surplus over the vesting 
period of the options granted. Consideration paid by employees on exercise of stock options is 
recorded as share capital. 

 
Grants of stock for services rendered are valued at fair value at the time of the grant, which 
equals the closing stock price as of that date. 

 
 Grants of Deferred Share Units (“DSU’s”) are valued at fair value at the time of grant, which 

equals the closing stock price as of that date. The DSU’s that are to be settled for cash are 
marked to the current market price at each balance sheet date. 

 
m) Income Taxes  

 
Income taxes are calculated using the asset and liability method of tax accounting. Under this 
method, future income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between 
the financial statement carrying values and their respective income tax bases resulting in 
“temporary differences”. Future income tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted 
or substantially enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when the temporary differences are 
likely to reverse. The effect on future income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is 
included in income in the period in which the change is enacted or substantially enacted. The 
amount of future income tax assets recognized is limited to the amount that is more likely than 
not to be realized. 

 
n) Earnings Per Share  

 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number 
of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated using 
the treasury stock method, whereby any “in the money” option proceeds would be used to 
purchase common shares of the Company at the average market price during the year. 
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o) Comparative Amounts 
 
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation. 

 

3. BUSINESS COMBINATION 
 
On August 23, 2006, the Company acquired 80% of Vatrin which holds 100% of Deno, its principal 
asset being the Kapan Mining Project in Southern Armenia. 

 
The Company has accounted for this acquisition as a business combination with the Company as 
the accounting acquirer. Vatrin’s results of operations have been consolidated for the period 
subsequent to the acquisition. The purchase price was $25.5 million and was composed of 
payments of $24.3 million (US$22.0 million) and transaction costs of $1.2 million.  

 
In accordance with the purchase method of accounting, the purchase cost will be allocated to the 
underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date 
of acquisition. Any excess of the purchase price over the net identifiable tangible assets acquired 
will be allocated to goodwill. 

 
The table below sets out the preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed, based on preliminary estimates of fair value. Final valuations of the assets and 
liabilities listed below as well as asset retirement obligations and deferred income tax assets/liabilities 
are not yet complete due to the inherent complexity associated with these valuations. The purchase 
price allocation is only preliminary and is subject to adjustment over the course of the next twelve 
months based on the completion of the valuations and the associated tax effects. 
 
Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation

Cash 523$       
Accounts receivable and other assets 4,234      
Inventories 2,064      
Future income tax asset 60           
Mineral properties 24,586    
Buildings, plant and equipment 6,654      
Total assets acquired 38,121$  

Accounts payable 1,999$    
Other long-term liabilities 1,890      
Future income tax liabilities 3,785      
Long-term debt 4,974      
Total liabilities assumed 12,648$  

Net assets acquired 25,473$  
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4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER ASSETS 
 
As at December 31, 2006 2005
Accounts receivable 21,866$             11,316$         
Copper puts (note 16) 3,175               -                     
Prepaid expenses 8,041               3,543             
Restricted cash (a) 3,844               -                     
Restricted guaranteed investment certificate (GIC) (b) 284                   284                

37,210$            15,143$         
 
(a) The cash is restricted as a bank guarantee until July 2007 and is held for concession licenses in 

Serbia. 
(b) The GIC is restricted and held as collateral for several suppliers until its maturity on May 4, 2007. 

 

5. INVENTORIES 
 
As at December 31, 2006 2005
Gold/copper ore and concentrate  $             8,984  $          5,848 
Spare parts and supplies                8,113              6,203 

 $           17,097  $        12,051  
 

6. INVESTMENTS 

 
The following are the details of the net changes in investments for the periods indicated. 
 
As at December 31, 2006 2005
Investments at cost, beginning of period 91,467$                 117,640$               
Cost of investments purchased during the period 61,313                 22,778                   
Cost of investments sold during the period

Proceeds from sales (111,118)              (68,982)                  
Net realized gain on sale of investments 68,682                 33,801                   

Impaired investments written down to market (73)                       (13,720)                  
Loss on equity investments (916)                     (50)                         
Investments at cost, end of period 109,355$               91,467$                  
 
Included in investments at cost is $30.6 million representing investments that are accounted for by 
the equity method. The Company’s share of the loss on equity investments was $916 and was 
charged to investment income. 
 

7. OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS 
 
As at December 31, 2006 2005
Escrow deposit for asset retirement obligation (note 11a) 1,935$             810$                
Deferred financing charges 268                318                  
Other 18                   76                    

2,221$             1,204$              
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8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Accumulated Net Accumulated Net
Depreciation Book Depreciation Book

Cost & Depletion Value Cost & Depletion Value

Chelopech 50,371$    4,972$           45,399$    23,463$    3,053$          20,410$    
Krumovgrad 47,723      94                  47,629      45,244      61                 45,183      
Serbia 4,880        55                  4,825        106           20                 86             
Kapan 25,111      104                25,007      -                -                    -                
Back River 46,885      -                     46,885      20,931      -                    20,931      

174,970    5,225             169,745    89,744      3,134            86,610      
Buildings, plant and equipment

Chelopech 84,461      15,658           68,803      53,587      9,707            43,880      
Krumovgrad 2,439        256                2,183        2,294        143               2,151        
Serbia 2,050        252                1,798        538           58                 480           
Kapan 8,885        252                8,633        -                -                    -                
Corporate 1,594        794                800           1,384        264               1,120        

99,429      17,212           82,217      57,803      10,172          47,631      
274,399$  22,437$         251,962$  147,547$  13,306$        134,241$  

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

Mineral properties

 
 
 

9. LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
As at December 31, 2006 2005
Long-term debt 16,897$           11,630$         
Less: current portion 4,225              -                    

12,672$           11,630$          
 
On April 6, 2005, Chelopech Mining EAD, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, obtained a 
US$10.0 million (Cdn$11.7 million) loan from the European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development (“EBRD”). The loan is secured by the Chelopech mine assets and is guaranteed by the 
Company. It bears interest at LIBOR plus 1.9% and is repayable in eight equal semi-annual 
installments commencing in June 2007. 
 
On December 22, 2005, Deno obtained a US$4.5 million (Cdn$5.2 million) loan from the EBRD. The 
loan is secured by a first ranking pledge of the accounts receivable and shares of Deno, and is 
guaranteed by Vatrin. It bears interest at LIBOR plus 5.5% and is repayable in eight equal semi-
annual installments commencing in March 2007. 
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10. RECLAMATION AND OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
 

 
As at December 31, 2006 2005
Asset retirement obligations 10,335$            9,524$           
Note payable (a) 2,083              -               
Long-term leases 21                    448                
Other 149                  125                

12,588              10,097           
Less:  current portion 21                    448                

12,567$            9,649$            
 
(a) Vatrin holds the note payable owing to the minority shareholder. The note bears interest at 

LIBOR plus 8% per annum.  
 
Asset retirement obligations as at December 31, 2006 were $10.3 million (2005 - $9.5 million), which 
reflects the net present value of the Chelopech mine site closure obligations. During the year ended 
December 31, 2006, accretion expense of $1 million (2005 - $0.7 million) was recognized. The 
anticipated future cash flows have been estimated using current prices at the time the obligation was 
recognized and discounted using a real interest rate of 8% after inflation growth of 3% per annum.  
 

11. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 
 

(a) Concession Obligations 
 

The Company has committed to make capital investments of US$6.2 million in the underground 
facilities of the Chelopech mine. As at December 31, 2006, the Company has spent US$44.7 million 
in satisfaction of the above concession obligation.  

 
In addition, a concession fee of 1.5% of the current value of the ore extracted is payable to the 
Republic of Bulgaria. During the period from January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2010, this fee is 
reduced by 50%, subject to a minimum payment of US$0.6 million per annum. The balance of the 
concession fee is to be deposited into an escrow account which will be used to fund environmental 
risk management and remediation costs. The accumulated balance in the environmental escrow 
account of US$1.7 million (Cdn$1.9 million) is included in other long-term assets (see note 7). 
 

(b) Gold/Copper Concentrate Sales  
 

The Company has signed contracts with the commitment to ship 60,000 tonnes of gold/copper 
concentrate in 2007. At the end of 2006, 11,000 tonnes were rolled over for delivery in January 
2007. 
 
In 2006, the Company had sales contracts with four customers. The basis of mining operations as a 
concentrate producer at Chelopech, at the planned levels of production, are dependent on these 
sales contracts. 
 
Additional sales may be contracted if the Company receives acceptable terms for its high arsenic 
bearing concentrate. 
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(c) Purchase Commitments 
 
In order to secure the materials and equipment required in the planned expansion and 
redevelopment of the Chelopech mine, the Company has entered into certain purchase 
commitments which, as at December 31, 2006, amounted to US$22.4 million. These obligations are 
not provided for in the financial statements. 
 
 

12. INCOME TAXES  
 

The reconciliation of the expected combined federal and provincial statutory income tax rates to the 
effective tax rate on earnings is as follows: 
 
As at December 31, 2006 2005
Combined federal and provincial

 statutory income tax rates 36.12% 36.12%

Income tax at statutory rates 30,247$           7,780$           
Adjusted for the effect of:
Change in future tax rates (2,613)            -                     
Non-taxable portion of capital gains (11,333)          (5,811)            
Lower rate on foreign earnings (3,603)            (1,504)            
Non-deductible stock compensation

expenses 1,705             1,151             
Other, net (395)               33                  
Provision for income taxes 14,008$           1,649$            

 
Significant components of the Company’s future income taxes as at December 31, 2006 and 
December 31, 2005 are as follows: 

 
As at December 31, 2006 2005

Future Income Tax Assets

Loss on copper puts 311$              -$               
Decommissioning provision 519               393                 
Depreciable property, plant and equipment 351               -                     
Deferred exploration -                    535                 
Stock compensation 1,661            1,486              
Investment write-downs 2,174            3,848              

5,016$           6,262$            

Future Income Tax Liabilities

Depreciable property, plant and equipment (1,311)$          (1,391)$          
Deferred exploration (10,336)         (5,181)            

(11,647)         (6,572)            
Net future income tax liability (6,631)$          (310)$             
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13. LONG-TERM COMPENSATION 
 

 
In 2004, the Company established a DSU Plan for directors and employees. The DSU’s are phantom 
shares which mirror the value of the Company’s publicly-traded common shares. 
 
Under the Employee DSU Plan, grants to employees of the Company will be determined by the Board 
of Directors or the Compensation Committee in lieu of a cash bonus. The DSU’s vest immediately and 
are redeemable in cash on the date the employee ceases to be employed by the Company. During 
the year, no DSU’s were granted (2005 – 9,090) under the Employee DSU Plan and there was no 
stock based compensation expense recognized (2005 - $75). The outstanding DSU’s were marked to 
market at December 31, 2006, and $592 (2005 - $980) was charged to earnings during the year. 
 
Under the Director DSU Plan, effective January 1, 2005, directors receive a portion of their annual 
compensation in the form of DSU’s. The DSU’s vest immediately and are redeemable in cash on the 
date the director ceases to be a director of the Company. During the year, 25,542 DSU’s were 
granted (2005 – 22,326) under the Director DSU Plan and $301 (2005 - $219) was recognized as 
stock based compensation expense. The outstanding DSU’s were marked to market at December 
31, 2006, and, as a result, $34 (2005 - $30) was charged to earnings during the year. 
 
The following is a continuity of the DSU for the periods indicated: 
 
As at December 31,

Number Amount Number Amount
Balance at beginning of period 408,816             4,109$      375,000       2,805$      
Issued during the period 25,542               300           33,816         294           
Marked to market -                        625           -                   1,010        
Balance at end of period 434,358           5,034$     408,816      4,109$     

           2006       2005

 
 
 

14. SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY 

 
a) Common shares 

 
Authorized 
 
Unlimited common shares without par value 
 
Issued 

Number Amount Number Amount
Balance at beginning of period 53,739,007  190,666$  53,639,675  189,971$   
Shares issued on exercise of 

stock options 246,831     1,880      99,332         695            
Transferred from contributed surplus

on exercise of stock options (b) -                761         -                  -                
Balance at end of period 53,985,838  193,307$  53,739,007  190,666$   

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005
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b) Contributed Surplus 
 

The following are the details of the net changes for the periods indicated: 
 
As at December 31, 2006 2005
Balance at beginning of period 4,260$               1,072$           
Stock based compensation expense 3,892                 3,188             
Stock options repurchased (372)                  -                    
Transferred to capital stock on exercise of stock options (a) (761)                  -                    
Balance at end of period 7,019$               4,260$            

 
c) Stock Based Compensation 

  
During the period ended December 31, 2004, the Company established an incentive stock 
option plan for the directors and selected employees. Pursuant to the plan, the exercise price of 
the option cannot be less than the market price of the common stock on the trading date 
preceding the day the option is granted. Under the plan, an aggregate of 6,500,000 shares from 
treasury were made available. Options vest over a three year period and expire five years after 
the date of grant.  
 
Total stock options outstanding for the years ending December 31, 2006 and December 31, 
2005 were: 

Weighted Weighted
Average Average

Options Exercise Options Exercise
(number) Price (number) Price

Balance at beginning of period 5,096,667    7.35$           4,460,000    7.00$           
Granted 560,000     11.74         1,010,000    8.42             
Exercised (246,831)   7.60           (99,332)       7.00             
Cancelled or expired (341,668)   7.45           (274,001)     7.44             

Balance at end of period 5,068,168    7.80$           5,096,667    7.35$           

Twelve Months Ended Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

 
 

Number Weighted Number
outstanding average Weighted exercisable Weighted

Range of  as at remaining average as at average
exercise December 31, contractual exercise December 31, exercise

prices 2006 life (years) price 2006 price

$7.00 3,804,834          2.17             $7.00 2,464,823          $7.00
$7.70-$9.59 703,334             3.68             $9.01 196,654             $9.07

$10.50-$14.35 560,000             4.55           $11.74 -                        -                
$7.00-$14.35 5,068,168          2.65             $7.80 2,661,477          $7.15

Options outstanding Options exercisable
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The fair value of options granted during the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 was 
estimated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: 

 
Risk free interest rate 3.98%-4.21% 
Expected life in years 4.75 
Expected volatility 42.4%-52.2% 
Dividends per share .- 

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, the Company granted 560,000 stock 
options with a value of $2.9 million. The total number of shares issued pursuant to outstanding 
stock options exercised for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 was 246,831. 
 
The estimated value of the options granted will be recognized over the vesting period. As at 
December 31, 2006, there is $4.1 million (2005 - $5.4 million) remaining to be charged to income 
in future periods relating to stock option grants. 
 
 

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

For the years ended December 31, 2006 2005
Basic net income per share
Net income available to shareholders 69,732$       19,890$       
Weighted average number of common

shares outstanding 53,879,686 53,662,061
Basic net income per share 1.29$           0.37$            

 

For the years ended December 31, 2006 2005
Diluted net income per share
Net income available to shareholders 69,732$       19,890$       
Weighted average number of common

shares outstanding 53,879,686 53,662,061
Dilutive effect of stock options 1,677,083    828,272       
Weighted average number of diluted

common shares outstanding 55,556,769 54,490,333
Diluted net income per share 1.26$           0.37$            

 
Earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share 
reflect the potential dilution that could occur if additional common shares are assumed to be issued 
under securities that entitle their holders to obtain common shares in the future. The number of 
additional shares for inclusion in diluted earnings per share is determined using the treasury stock 
method, whereby stock options, whose exercise price is less than the average market price of our 
common shares, are assumed to be exercised and the proceeds are used to purchase common 
shares at the average market price for the period. The incremental number of common shares 
issued under stock options and repurchased from proceeds is included in the calculation of diluted 
earnings per share. 
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16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

 
The carrying value of the Company’s short-term financial instruments, comprised of cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, copper puts, accounts payable, and accrued 
liabilities, approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. The fair value of the 
Company’s debt is $12.3 million. The fair value of the note payable is $1.8 million. 
 
During the second quarter of 2006, the Company purchased copper put options in the aggregate 
amount of US$6.5 million (Cdn$7.2 million) giving the Company the right, but not the obligation, to 
sell up to 11,825 mt of copper concentrate at US$2.50/lb. These options are in place over the period 
October 2006 – December 2007 and mature evenly by month over this time period. These 
instruments allow the Company to protect itself, in the short term, against a decline in the value of 
copper. These financial instruments can be sold at any time prior to their maturity. The Company has 
not applied hedge accounting for these financial instruments and, accordingly, adjustments to the fair 
value of these puts, amounting to a loss of US$3.4 million (Cdn$3.8 million), has been recorded on 
the statement of earnings. A portion of the options expired during the year and the fair value of the 
expired options was recorded as a loss of US$0.3 million (Cdn$0.4 million) on the statement of 
earnings for the year ended December 31, 2006.  
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17. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
The Company has two basic segments, a Canadian based corporate and investment business, and 
Bulgarian, Canadian, Serbian and Armenian based mining and exploration operations. 
 
The following table summarizes the relative information for the following periods and as at the dates 
disclosed. 

 
For the years ended December 31, 2006 2005
Net revenue

Mining operations 60,246$           17,651$         
Investments 64,859            23,852          

125,105$          41,503$          
Net income

Mining operations 45,382$           13,192$         
Investments 64,859            23,852          

Net income of combined segments 110,241          37,044          
(25,708)           (15,614)         

(793)                109                
Income tax provision (14,008)           (1,649)           
Net income 69,732$            19,890$          

Capital expenditures
Mining 95,422$            64,924$          

As at December 31, 2006 2005
Assets

Cash 31,993$           77,541$         
Mining operations           308,269          161,572        
Investments        114,592          98,796          

454,854$          337,909$        

As at December 31, 2006 2005
Assets

Canada           170,630$         185,260$       
Europe and Eurasia 284,224          152,649        

454,854$          337,909$        

Foreign exchange gain (loss)
Corporate and administration

 
 

18. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 
 
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the presentation adopted in the 
current period. 
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